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*Donald opens the.oase to the 

f the'People,_ ed follows: 

ury on behalf 

Your Honor 8.111 gent;emen of the jury, the People 

expect to prOve by their witnesses that the defendant 

"  and the deceased were.employed by C. B. Piel & Com:Paili) 

carting' avvay ashes from different. hotels. 

That the defendant and the deceased were at the Hotel 

Martinique on this .28th day of January, c,arting away 

ashes. They had been there some time. 

And then that 'the deceased directed the defendant" 

proceed to another hcitel in Park Avenue. The de. -̂
0 , 

fendant -then refused to go,. anewords ehsued. The d 

ceased strudk the defendant' in the nose, causing blood "to 

flow. 
. , 

That then the-defendant put his hand in'hia pocket 

and took therefrot a knife; that he.`lopened it. 

That then the deceased, Cleary, sa* it and ran awaY. 

That the defendant ran after him a distance of 

about one hundred and fifty or two hundred feet and caught 

the defendant on approximately' the corner. of Thirt third 

Street and Broadway. . - That he there stabbed him in the 

,right side with -this knife, penetrating the ,lung. 

The deceased got away then from .the defendant, and 

the defendant still continued to run after the deceased. 

'The deceased deceased. then rah to the home of a brother of his and 

• 



004.• 

there an,'aibUlance was called. The deceased would notgo , 

to the "hospital. 

The: *defendant returned to the Martinique Hotel and. 

remainad there. Later the deceased was taken to Belle-

vue Hospital, where he died on the 23rd day of February. 

The people will Prove to you that the deceased died 

as a result of thie7stab waund 'inf.14cted by this d,ef end-

ant on the 23rd day of January, 19184. Those are 

the facts, „in a general way,. e,gainst the defendant. 

Is Dr. Schultze here? Martin - Uobert Martin. 

R O.B .2 ET MAR TI -1\-r,--"A1led as a witness on behalf of 

The People being first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT FXAMI NATI ON BY MR. Mc DONALD: 

Q Where do you  live? .A 23.3 West One Hundred and Forty-

third Street 

Q, What is your business, Mr. Martin? A Chauffeur. 

Q And by whom are you employed? A el' s. 

Q, Anti what is their bqsnesaA Riding ashes; and things 

like that, contracting. 

Xeep your voice up. A Contracting. He is a contractor. 

Q,' How long have you been working for Piel & Company? 

A About three months. 

Q Three months before January the 28th? A Yes, sir. 

Did you know the deceased, William Cleary? A, Yes ,sir. 

Q, Was he working for Piel at that time? A Yest‘sirip 

41111114111. 
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Was he working with you on the 28th day of January), 

.1918? A Yes, sir.  

where did you go with your truck that night? A To 

the Martinique. Hotel where we loaded the ash.es , and then. rid 

them from there to Long Island. 

Did yougo to the Martinique Hotel that night" A Yes. 

Q, And what entrance to the Martinique, what part of the 

Martinique, the Thirty-second) or Thirty third Street side? 

A Thirty-third Street. 

Q Do you remember what time about it was when you went 

there? •,„A I got there around eight oi.clock, I suppose, when 

I got there; it took me quite some time to, load the 

- you, know. 

Q, Was Cleary there when you got there? 

Q Did you see the defendant there? A Yes, sir. 

- Was „ be there when You got there? 

Q How long did you remain there? A I remained there 

until about, I suppose about ten or half past ten, somewhere 

alOng about that) in the neighborhood Of  that. 

Q, Was the defendant Mayo 'wdlik;ag—heve? A Yes 

Q He was helping to load your truck? Yes sir. 

low, then) before you left with your truCk)die- any 

thing happen? A Y 

JUet tell us what 'happened? A William Cleary came 
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and told 

You mean the deceased, William Cleary" 

Keep your voice up.. A Came up and told him 

other truck. 

A Then- they got in a few words. 

Tell us what was said by each, 'if you remember? 

William Cieary came up an4 told the de•r-

fendant that the foreman give him orders -to go to the Park 

Avenue Hotel and load the other truck., They had my truck about 

loaded, 'and they commenced quarreling a little bit, cursing. 

Q, fell ,us what they said when they quarreled") A Then 

the defendant Giglow, said, the hell with that, he wasn't 

going to load that truck now, he already loaded Martin's truck) 

and when he :said that, my radiator was leaking, and 1 Went down 

on the elava,tor, and "Nhen I earns back up the two men was 

fighting with their fists. 

BY MR. McD,ON'ALD: 

Q, Who was fighting? -A Giglow and Witham Cleary. - 

Q, This defendant? 4 

Q, And the.. deceased" A, Ye\a eir Willi earY•hil 

him in the ,nose, :end his nose wa, bleeding. 



A:. And then William RlearY started to  run. 

-Before.Tilliat. Cleary stated to run, did you. see 

A 'Before he starteA to r,gn Sullivan grabbed him, 

p;nd then hd jerked loose from Sullivan. 

A William Cleary. 

Q Who •is Sullivan? A One of the witnesses; he is - 

over there (indicating). And then Giglow pulled his knife 

from his pdfcic.et,_ 
. - 

Did-heopen it? A Yesoir.' 

That kind of knife was it? A It was a kind of brownish 

knife with a ring in the sad of it, in the handla. 

' 
Q When You saw the defendant open his knife, or take 

the knife out of ieLpocket and open it did you see what Cleary 

was don? A .Yes. 

Q What was he doing? A He was running. 

Q And then what happened?. • A And Gigiow started in 

-behind him, baying "I will get the son-of-a-bitch". 

A Giglow started in behind him saying) 

"get the son-of-a-bitoh," and Whitey run rill* behind Giglow. 

4 Who is4bitey? 'A Thatnother witness. 



Robert White? A Yes,Blr, so he hollered to Willi 

.look out, Giglow waS: coming, and they got faster, and all 

Could see then I aw him! .about four 'foot from 'him 

• Q," Saw who? A Ca glow 

Q, You saw thie. defendant four  feet from bleary? . A Y 

• sir, the  was runiling right along then. 

Q What happened then? 

'sidewalk and met the cop. .„. 

Q Did you see 'Cleary get any nearer to - at least; the 

detndant get any nearer to Cleary? A When I saw him he  

was about four foot from him, and they` was rtihning to beat 

the band, then.-

Q, Then did you lose sight of them'? A I lost sight of 

Aft ervrards• did you see the defendant'? A Cleary'? 

Q Did you see the defendant, giglow? A .0h, tyes, art 

nd him- and 

me.de him pull -the knife from his 

Dka you see anything pt) that knife? 

little blood on the knife, but we thought it was from his nose. 



Did you see Cleary at fly ime ettler that? A  I Saw 

him one e .11,e se.icl.h.e was going to the 'hospital.. 

McDONALD: Never mind what he 'Slid di Your Witness. 

IMINA.TI,ON BY MR. LeBARBIHR: 

Had you been working all, that day? - sir. 

When di dr:y-ou go to work? A I, went to. work , a-bout 
‘. 

six o' 

Q. And was it your day off? A I work at night. 

BY TEO COURT: 

Q Where was it that  you sew Cleary? A Cleary? 
• 

Q, After. A 'After? I saw him at Mr. Pi el' s barn; he. 

came up and. ,said he vvaii on hi s way to the hospital. 

Q Never mind what he said. Where i s the- barn? ' A The 

barn i s on Fifty- fourth Street. 
- 

Q .Between what avenues? A, Between pixth Avenue and 

Br o 

Q On Pifty-fourth Street between Sixth Avenue and Broad-

may? A Yes, st. 

Q And whet time did you see him? A I don't know just 

what time. It was about - it must have been about ten or eleven 

• o'clock. 

Q It was about ten o'clock that this thing happened, 

,wasn''t it? A No, sir, that was the next day. 
1 

Q, The next morning, or .evening? A ..Ohrening., 
• t 

Q The iiert day? A Tilt next. day, next morning., • 

Q The next morning? A Yes, sir. 

**, V , 



Q Yo saw him at° ten clock the next.. Morning? A Yes 

, A Well don't know whether; he walk dH.,theie, 

He said--he was on his .voly to the hospital. 

Q

 

When You saw him was he on foot? A He was On.fobti-

Q, What did you have a truck? Yee,  

Q And you were -driving thlt truck? 

Q 'Were You the only one who attended to4 driving that 

truck? A Yes sir. 

Q And you  started from where4 to go to Broadway and 

I started from Fifty-fourth Streets 

Wh s Mr. Pi el? A C. F. 1'1.4-1 that is all I know. 

Q -That is his business? A. He is a contractor. 

Q He is the fellow who carts ashes? A Yes, Flirt; 

Q You had been working for him for some time9 A Yes, 

Q How long? A About three 

.Q, 'And do you know whether the defendant  had been work-

ing for him? 

Q And he was working all the  time that you had been, 

working? A He was working all the time -I- had been working, 

and they all said he hadi been working there al the time. 

Q, You heard others speak about him?. A Yes, 

Q, Do yu know what his reputation was for peace and quiet? 
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. And when yoU ,arrived- at Broadway and Thirty—third Street 

got..there at, about what tithe.? A I got thqe about 6:30. 

Q When you •idt.,here did you see the ,defendant? A They. 

when you got there, did you see the defendant'

Yes sir. 

Q, He was working.in 'the etreet, was he not? A ,He waé 

getting the ashes up from down below in the basement, up on 

that Sullivan? 

3ce who? , A He is back over there (indicating 

don't know his other name-. 
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A P42SON: 

Guilfoi;1? A Yes 

as he working with the defehndant? A  Yes,sir. 

They were both taking the ashes but from the hotel? 

A Yes, sir.. 

Was there any truck besides yours there at that timt4? 

t *when I arrived there. 

Q, Was your truck filled? A Yes sir. 

Q And did these two men help you fill your truck?' 

Did they finish. filling at? 

Q, Did a second truck come along? A Yes, sir. 

drove that truck? t remember his name. 

Q, • It ,was not Cleary, was at  A No,sar, it .was not Cle 

Q The man came along wit)l the second truck, - and why al; 
you call the defendant Gig1ofi A Why do I call -'him GigloiAr? 

That Is hat they, all ca1l him ever since I 

work there, they Called him GigIow. 

Was the second truck filled? 

Was it halp filled? A, No sir. 

Q Was there anything in the seóond truck of the asbee, 

A There Wasn't any chance at all. 'He just had come from the 
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caine UP to go to the %Park Avenue Hotel fo.r. to be, loaded there. 

QD Oh it was just passing') A. Yes, just Passing., an 

stopped to get some ot the men to. take to the Park Aventle• Hotel.'• 

Q, Who else besides -Gunton wet theresk A Gunton?. 

That fellow 3oel3 A They was all there, Gunton 

and Joe and Giglow find Sullivan and- Whitey 'Etna I can't remember, 

them all-, Them is the ones that was there. 

Q When this truck that you. wer.0 ;working on was filled; 
A. 4 ••• 

what did you do? A What °di d'I do? -1-LI went down and got a 

pail of water to put in the radiator toget rea,dy to pull out 

for tong ,Ipland, to the clump. 

Q .7ust before you went down to get that peal of water, 

Id you. see Cleary? , A Did I see him? 

Yes„ A Yea 

Q, How long before,you went down had ,you seen him? A He 

just came up. 

Q,. Did he come up with any "truCk? A No; air. 

BY -mil. McDONALp:  

Q He  came up from !the teller, you mean? 
- , 

from the c 

LeBARBI.fiTi: 
1.1 

Q, From the cella,. r of- t.he hotel? •A 

Q: 

Corn'6.up 

And when he came up did he say anit.hin.g to the defeng-

Wit? A Yes sire 

Q That did he  say? A1 He said he got orders frci 'the. fore-

man for him to go to the Park Avenue -Hotel to load he other, 
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Q He said what? 
k 

A He got orders frOm the foreman 

the Park Averxu e Hotel and load the. Other truck. 

Q To whom did he say that?* A Be  said it to Mr. Giglow 

and the rest of the fellows that was loading the fruck. 

Then 'when: said that what did Giglow-:say,. de-

éndaflt say? A He said he -wasn' t _going there to lo ita the 

truck; he 'said, "To hell with loading it". 

Q Talk out. A He'eai'd he had loaded Martin's truck) 

and he wasn't going there.. 

Q And.what did he .do then? A What did he do? 

I went .On down in the batieme.nt then. 
. . 

Q Just before iou went down in the basement is that all 

that you heard Cleary say? A That is all I heard him 

Bay, because I - 

°Q ever mand that. When the defendant said, as You say 

now, "To hell with that," did you see him do .anything A No, 
- 

sir) not-then. 

Q Did you see qleary do anything? A Not at that time. 

At that time did it look' tO yo al like 

di dn ' t look  to me' like any fight then. 

sir. 

any fight? .,A It 

Q And that is why you went downstairs, isn't it? A Yes, 

Q You remained dcArnstai s about how long? ° bh, 

was there about wasn't there o er about three minUtes, 
, 

gUe8-. 

, 

oleammosef 

I. 
-,„ 
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water. 

Q And what did you do'With the pail water? A 

first got up the men was figliting; I set the paj.4 

down until I -seen the fight out. 
IS 

You wanted to see the fight out? A Sir? 

Q You wanted to See the fight? • A No I Was looking 

it. I di din' t want:. to gee the fight. 

Q, But you stopped_ to look at it? A Yes, sir. 

Q. -"Did you see the deceased,. Cleary, hit the defendant? 

A Yes, sir. 

bid he hit the defendant, before he  di,d,anything? A Sir? 

Q Was he the first one to hit the defendant? A He was 

the first one I saw hit.: him. 

Q And where did you  see the blow land? A 04 his nose, 

A Yes, sir Q Did you see blood spout from his nose? 

Q And when the defendant got -this hit on the, nose and 
what 

the blood spouted from it,/did you see him: do?. A :the defendant? 

Q .Yea. A Weil, then, Cleary ' 

Q What did -you lee the defendant 

'knife from his pocket. 

Q Just 6.t that time, vihere was Cleary? A 

Started .to run, and Sullivan grabbed him. 

Q He ran then? A Yes, air. 

Q Did he ru4 b ore. the 'knife *as 'opened? A Yes, sir‘, 

he started to run be fore the knife was opened. 

• 



.And you saw him run? 

MR. 1WcDONALD: Let him answer. 
wi thin - 

I saw him get, I should judges/about four 'foot of him. 

How far away from you was that? A How far was I away 

Yes. A I guess I must' have been 65 or 7Ofeet. 

Q, VVhen? 

Q When. A When they  was running. 

Q, Did the deceased. run towards Broadway? 

,And ,Thirty-third Street? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did he get as far as Broadway? A Yes sir they got 

as far as Broadway.. 

MB. LeBARBLES: I am goiltg as qui61 ags 
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MODONALD: Suppose -you let the witness , answer 

u see a police officer there 

, 

•g And didn't you.see the police officer stop the defend 

ant? A No sir. 

Q, bid this Man pass the polic,s, "officer? A- That I. couldn't 

tell „you. 

Q Why not? You were looking? A I couldn't see from 

where I was I couldry't see whether they passed him, or not. 

Q Was there a crowd in the street? A No, sir., but it 

' was a little dark. 

Q This was about half past ten? A Y sir. 

Q It was all lit up there electrically, wasn"t it? A Yes. 

- Can you state to this Court and jury that you didn't 

see the defendant-, or did see the defendant, pass the officer? 

A I didn't see that; I couldn't say that. 

(4, How far did you see Cleary, the deceased run? A About 

65 9r. 70.feet I saw him. 

Q And was he still runninp when you left off' lookin 

at him? A Yes sir. 

Q And the defendant had never gotten up, him, ,had he? 

A He .was -about sour fobt from 

Q . He had never caught up with him? A I lost Sight of 

him then. ,# 

But at the last. moment when .Cleary was rupning away he 

was still about four feet ahead of •thedefendant” isn't that 
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v4ir; 

1 

BOzs r: 

Isn't that correct A That, is correct. 

Q Now, when he was four feet ahead of the defendan 

was the police officer there? A I didn't see him. 

Q Now, did you at any time see the defendant strike the 

deceased with the knife? A No, sir because I lost sight of him. 

Q, WeU, now, Martin, why do you. say, "because I lost sight 

• of hi m II ? Has anybody made any suggestion to •you? A ,No, sir.. 

Q, Has anybody made any, suggestion to you about your test • 

Many? A Suggestion? 

Yea. A 'Nopsir. 

Has anybody Said,: "Well, then say, '1 lost sight of 

him'"? A, 'No sir. 

Q If it was lit, up likethat„ and you .say it was, and 

—414-4t+ 

. . 
you had been noticing the figkt can you account how it if3 or 

how it was that you -did not see the defendant get nearer to 

Cleary? A Well, I will tell you. The 'light raight be shining, 

along here, ,and over in that corner it is dark, and you can't 
4 - 

see 'theremt-h.en (indicating); that is ho\ki'it was. He 'ran. through''' 

a dark place.. 

Q What dark place is there at the corner of Thirty-Third 
Po 

• 2 

street and 13roa,dway at that time? Where i s there a de, 'ookner 
t • 

•  The darkness comes before you get on the corner.. 

33 t he was running into the light, wasn't he? A Sure, 

he was running — 

q And you paw him? A Yes, sir. 

••*, 

,rtr 

• 



ME. Mc DONALD: t an Swer. 

Q You saw him'  running into the light, t -you 

saw him running into the light, but when he run through the 

dark Place then I lost sight of him., 

Now, Listen, Martin. 4as. anybody ,anywhere 

said to you -that if you were pressed with questions 

to say, l'I lost sight of him"? A Nolsir. 

Q 'Are you sure about that? A I. am sure about that. 

Q Was it possible to lose Sight of him? A Yes, sir. 

Q You saw the officer 'there, didn't you? A 1 didn't 

-see the officer I saw the officer after everything was over, 

coming on back,.. with the deceased, as you ',call hird. 

The. defendant you mean. 

Q This ,i 

•Yes sir, the defendant.. 
„\ 

the live one, here (indicaangr,d.efendant)? 

Yes, sir that is right., I saw him cpniinjii back,xvith 
You saw the officer come back with him? A Yes sir.-

zid you, see the officer take hbld of him? A Yes sir. 

Then the officer tobk 1261,1.d of him, Cleary was still' 

running, wasn't'he? A Was still running? 

Q Yes. A I don't know, I didn't see him. I couldn't 
A 

tell at that time whether he wasrunning .11:ut the officer - when' 

the officer took hold of him he Was gone; Giglow was 69.41ing 

back; the officer was coating back; he didn't take hold of hi 

whi,Ie he ,was running 'after him. I didn't see him take hold 'of 

him then.. If he had taken hold of him then I didn't see it. 

Q, Did he have th'e knif An his hand then? A When?' 
04, 
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When the officer had him: 

made him pit his knife in his pocket. 

Isn't it a fact that the officer told him to take the 

knife - searched him, and,, ,took the knife out or 'his pocket, 

14DOXALD: Who took the knife"  

The def'endEn t took the knife out of his pocket?' A Yes, 

Bh? 'A Yes; sir. 

Thew it was pretty dark ther-e; fr-a-snit it? 

A little kit 'closer.... 

4 A little bit closer? •4 The cop was on one side and 

his pocket?-

sQ, Did. he open the knife? A Yes, sir. 

Who opened the knife? A The deceased, he opened the • 

the defendant; he is still"alive? A 

did he? A Yesleir.' 

was blood on his nose. 

down • to his lip? or had 1e 

ad from his nose? A It was on, his nose running, 
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down there. 

Over his chin? A s'Yes, sir. 
.gi. 

Did he have any -b16od on his .shirt? A I didn't notice 

.You are now within less, than tWoet,jrcm Where the 

de"fendant was? A I di dn t look - 

Q Now, wait. About within that_di stanc el di d ypu see blood 

on the defendant,53 shirt? A No, sir I didn't notice ito 

. Q Didn't the officer take his shirt and. pull it out and 

ldok at it and it was all bloody? A I didn't see him dO that. 

Was there, blood on the defendant's han,d?. A, I didn't 

notice his hand. 

Didn't, you .zee him put his hand. up to his nose and 

mouth? A No, sir , . I iln4-4.'notic-e, him do talat.,.• 

Q. Was the blood still strfiaming"dovvn from his nose? 

A Not very much;' just a'little. 

Q .Was it? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where was it dripping to? A It was aa.l on his face. 

Q, What was he doing.,. drinking in the blood as it came 

out of his, nose?., A I don't know whether he was, or not. 

di dn' t pay any attention to that. 

Q, What? A I didn't pay .any attention to that. 

Q, But he put his hand up to his face sometimes then, 

didn't he? A I don't know, sir. I suppose he must have, 

• but I didn't see him. If  he did, I didn't see .him. 

Dic1n, t' you see 'blood on.hi s hands then? A No sir.. 



B.licDONALD: lie has alreadr-answel'ed tiat. Be said, 

no ,he di drke t see it. 

Q, When he 'took the knife- out of his Pocket, what ind. Of 

a knife was it? A It was a bone handled knife. 

Q What? A A'kind of bone handled knife brownish, witha 

ring in the end of it. 

Q, When he opened i.t, did he put it in his t eeth.? A No 

sir-, I didnIt see i,t in his teeth, 

Q Di dn t See him op er,. i t with hi s teeth, \ di d you? %No. 

Q What did he do hand it to the officer? .A 4, The officer 

taken it .and looked at it. 

Did he take it and hand it to him? 4 Yes, sir. • 

A Where d.d you see blood on .the knife? A On the blade, 

just ". a, little smear .around on the bl`adp, 

middle, 

about middle -ways on the blade. 

Q,, Did you look at the knife? A Yes, sir.. 

Q . Did you touch what you. say was blood on the knife? 

Was it wet blood, or dry blood?  A It looked to be wet 

blood; 'must have been wet, because the blood just care from 

the man. 

What? A -I say, it must ave been wet blood; I otidet 
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cuc.h 'but i must have been we 

Why Ido you. say wet? A Be081,1se it was fresh biood. 

Q What? 4 A, Because it was fresh blood. 

but  you di dn',.t see anybody 'get 0,111., did you? A No. 

Q, Did he,i say he had out anybody? A Sir? 

Q Did.' the defendant say he had cut anybody? A He, didn't 

tell me he out anyb_ody. 

- Q Didn't the officer ask him if he cut the dee eased? 

A I' didn't  pay any attention to what the officer said. The 

officer said, "My, .011s I s an awful rib-sticker,you have 

got- here; " and he asked me did I know the two men, arid I told. 

-him yes I knew the two men. He said, "I don't thi k there Is 

anything serious. If it is we will know." 

, Q, Did-the officer, in the presence of the defendant, ask 

him whether he had cut anybody withyhat knife? A I don't 

remember whether he did., or not.14 

Q, Why do you say you don't remetb er? A Well, I 

Q Don' t rememb et? A No, sir, I d'On t "-temether hearing 
- 

him asking him that. 

9, Do you remember the defendant saying anything? A Yes 

sir, he. said something. 

Di dn t he say he cut this man?) 'No, he didn't say 

he cut him 

ure about, that? am. sure about that. 

Q, Did he say he had drawn his kni f e and had cut him., 

vtri t hi t? A' No he di dn' t ,a4Y that. 
0 



0 

What dia he sa4r9 

'he ought to lock-the'biack' so 

the nose. • 

.0. 

h. UP 7,he 7hit him 

Q, That -is what this fellow said.?' A Yes sir. 

Q- He said to the officer, "Lock the son7of-a-bitch up; he 

hit the in the nose"? A No. 

YR. iticDONALD: No, he said, "Black son-of-.a-bitch". 

Bet it all in. 

Q, He said, "Lock the black son-of-a-bitch up; he hit me 

the nose? 4' Yes, r.. 

Q That is what this fellow said!? A YesIsir. 

Q, In other words, the defendant made -a complaint again.st 

the deo ea'sed, didn t' he? 

MR.McDONLD: I object to that, sir. 

THE CoblIT.: Yes that is calling for a conclusion. 

flL LeBARBI141: I take an exceptioii. 

Q, -When. the defendant said that to the Officer, what did 

the officer say? A He said,"You got an awful rib-'eticker, _you 

ought not to have subira thing as that after st, man.," and he 

looked at it, the offiber looked at it and yve thought there 

virasn t nothing much-. nothing' serious. about it. 

MR. LeBARBIE11: I move Co strike that ,out. 

THE COURT: Yes, motion granted, strike out the 

'latter 'part of the answer. 

And even then, When he was looking at it, did You say 
17, 

there- was blood there and he di dn ask him if he had out 

• 

0 

• 

• •••.• 
• 



the deceased, did he'? A Who, the officer? 

Q, Yes. A I don't remember him asking him did he cut him. 

Q • Are you working for them now? 

hl it has been -I can't 

fp recollect just exactly; it has been about five or six weeks 

Q Yo1 have no eiihg against the defendant 

' Giglow?,' A Neither one of them. 

Q, When you f3aw the  deceased, the 

you see him? A At ;)i el' a barn. 

Q You hadbeen working all night? A 'Yes, sir. 4, 

Q, And had he been working all nigh:t? A Xo, sir. 

1Q, You don't know vhether do you? A 

hadn't been working there. 



When you saw him the next moz'ning was the afendant. 

Nos 

Q Axst Cleary alone? A Yes 

Q Did you see any blood on .Cleary9 

Q, Sure about that? A Sure about it. 

Q Now, that is not a question that you do not rememb-el!, 

That is to say, there is no 

got enough on that. 

Yes, he said he I s sure there was none. 

Q, How long did you see him? A About - I suppose he 

was there about, three or four months. -t 

Q, Did you see him after that at any time'? 

Q, Didn't  you see him about a month after that? A No, 01 

A Right 'along.. 

Q For how long? A1 e1i, he workea .until they 

- 
rested. him. 



Wasn t he/ A No, sir. 

• Q violent fellow? A Violent? 

'Q' Yqs• A. Nossir. 

Didn't he get in fights? A No,slr, I never seen him 

a fight since I have. b een working there. 

• Q Well, you saw hini strike this man di dn' t you? A Yes. 

Didn't you consider that violent? A Well, that was 

the onliest time I saw him in a fight. 

Q, Do you know he came out of a 'saloon th.atsilight? A Out 

of a saloon? 

ircz Came. out of a, saloon? A No,', I di dn" t k'noWIt'he 

Came out of a saloon, or not. ..I didn't bee him come out, of a 

'saloon. 

•Q What A I didn't pee him come out of a saloon.. 

w 

Q, You say that he was sob er? A Yes, sir. 

Q. And then when this 'lealow- icen the defendant 'told ' 

him to go to hell he turned around and hit him in the face, 

is that right? A When he told him to g0 to hell he turns 

around and hit him in the nose', 
". 

Q Yes? A They was fighti•ngi. I went down after the 

pail of water, and they was'fighting when I came back up 

'ct Did you see this man hit Cleary s.t all? A T14.0 m • 

here!? 

Q Yes. 

• 

A.!couldn't tell whether he hit ,him, or not 

seen' him hitting at him with his, fistlike that (illustra,ting) 

..••••• 



Q  Ma you see t40 ciefend:art:. at me hit .0; eai 

A ' No,ir, I didn't ee him7'hit-.iin, but they both was fighting. ; 

and scratching, but I didn't see his b,lOw land. but I saw, 

Cleary 's land, 

Q You didn't see this man land? A No, sir. 

Q And when that fighting was going on there was no knife 

his hand at all? A No, sir. 

Q Was the defendant facing ClearY when you say you 

saw his fist ,up? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You were ,right there; weren't you? A Yes, sir. 
• • 

Q You said that syou didn't see the defendant hit Cleary? 

A No, sir, I didn't see him hit him, but I seen him hitting 

at him like that (il).ustrating), but I didn't see the blow. 

land. 

Q It did not land? A No sir. 
• 

Q, You were close enough to see that?' A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you try to stop them? 'A No, sir, I didn't try to 

stop them. 

Q Why. A Becau.se didn't have* tite. *Clearly started 

run, he jerked loose and started to run, and Sullivan caught 
, - 

• 
•arto • 

Whar .Sulli'van catch him? Sullivan pulled them, 

v. 
trp right, in front of my autornobila, the one I WaS driving. 

Q Were they both' kind of looked together? A They 

A 

was 'kind of looked together? A. Yee, sir. 
1° 

And A•he deo eas d was punching the, defendant;', a 

• 

s 



But that Was such a good punch that it d.reir bloo 

didn't it? A Yes six-. 

(1" Did Sullivan get hold of the -cle:c'eased Cleary? 4, A He 

got hold of Cleary. 

When he caught hol.df Cleary, where was the' defend-

ant? A He was standing right behind hi 

Q, By himself? A Yes, sir. 

catch hold of Cleary? A Right in front of the machitle. 

..Q, But around Cleary' body? 

body. Cleary started to run. 

How did Sullivan catch hold of Cleary? 

He' grabbed him in the back. 

Q, .And .held him? A He tried to hold Xim, and he 

jerked loose from him and run. 

Q Sullivan couldn't hold him, and Cleary ran away, didn 

LeBARBIgR: 'That is all. 

RBDIRECT liTAVINATIOT BY 'YR, VicDON'ALD: 

-Q 1, show you this knife and ask you if that is the knif 

that You saw the defendant take out of his .pocket on the28th 



II 

• day, of Yanuaier, 1918 • (handing knife. 

the_ knife. 

DOICTALD: May I Lave it *marked  for identifiC ati on? 

TV COURT: If he identifies it, it may, be marked . 

evidence. 

MR. I:is:B./M/12: Do you offer it in evidence? 

MR. 'Mc DINALD: Yes. 

B. LqARBI.Fii: I object to it as improper, immaterial 

and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

LeBARI4I.FR: Bxception. I move to strike out 
••• 

the answer as improper. 

THF'CQtTRT: Motion denied. 

MR. LeBARBI2R: I take an exception. 

(Knife received in evidence and marked PeopletEifix-, 

hibit No. 1 of this date.) 

MR.' McDOVALD: "That is' all. May. I take Dr 

at this' time, sir, out of the regular order? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

1010*.00411. .. one ..... Oedielve0 

0 T T 0 H. s ULTZ B, called, as a witness on laehalr 

of The 15-eaple; being first duly sworn, testified as folloW13: 

DiRiCT VAMINATION 'tY MR. McDOP`ALD: 

4. Doctor you are a duly licensed physician, and Burgeon? 

• 

Ye e, 

f-10 • 

Q, And how long have you been practic,ing?.At least, ho* 



long have you been a licensed physician? Since 'June 

Q, And during that time have you been' what offices 
, 

you ,held? A Coroner'sPyicjan of the VotinV of New York 

in 1896 and '7 nd Coroner'WPhysicic.n he Borough of Man-

December, 1902, until April, 11930-atid from that 
W. 

date to the 
 3/4 

present time medical assistant to the District 

. Attorney of New York County. 

Q During that time, have you ,performed 'a number of 

autopsies to find out the cause of death? A I have. 

Q, And about how many autoies have you performed? A Over 

Q And—dad you perform an autopsy upon the body of one 

William Cleary? A I did. 

Q, And when and where? A On February 25, 1918, at t 

mortuary, at Bast Twenty ninth. Street, 

Cr And was-William Cleary identified to you by anyone? 

He was 'identified to me by, Officer Michael Compost 

Twenty- second Precinct 

Q You say you did perform an autopsy ,upon the body 

William .C1 eery? 

Q And are you able to tell us What was the 

the death of Willie* Cleary. 

)10. Obj ec ted to as incompetent. 
- --

THB COtTlirlf- I think you better first ask hini"ro 'de-
e 

scribe the conditions he found) and, then ask him to express 



S Opinion a's to the cause of death. . 

Q you find, Doctor? A lie vitas a colored man; 

Meastiring five  feet nine inches in-height,.with mu.scles fairly .. _ 

well developed; the body vas somewhat emaciated. On the right 

side there Was a wound four inches in length that extended from 

the seventh Fib on a level with the nippleand downward and for-, 

ward to a point over the eighth rib, in a line dropped from, 

the middle • of the arm-pit. From..the lower end of the wound 

tliere was a second wound connecting with it that measured an, 

inch and a half, passing downward and. forward. Through this 

wound the seventh ald eighth ribs had been resected; that is, ... 

apart of the seventh- and eighth right ribs had been taken out. 

-A drain of gauze extended into a pus cavity in the chest 

between the lung and the chest-wall. In the lung Opposite. 

to the wound there was a scar measuring one inch in depth 

between the _upper margin of the lower lobe and, the lower margin 

of the upper lobe of the right lung: The thickness of the 

chest-wall was one inch, so that the entire 'depth of the wound 

'through chest-wall and through lung was two inches. The sac 

in which the heart is. contained, contained pus one pint in amount 

The reit of the organs, with the exdeption of the colon the 

, 
large- intestine, Which showed a catarrhal inflamMation, were 

in a normal conditign. The cause of death was a stab - 

MN. LeBARBI#11: Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant 

and immaterial. 

o 
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BY TIM COURT: 
, 

Cfiir,1 you express, with reasonable  certainty; an opinion 

as to the 'cause of death? ik Yes; sir. 

Q. You may do so. A A' -Stab wound 

MR. LeBARBIF13: would like to cross-examine Ihim 

before he ldoes. 

THE COUR-I) No, you can cross-examine afterwards. 

MIL LeBARBIER: Very well, sir. 

A (Oontinuingr) A stab wound of the right lung, erckpyomal 

which means bus in the .right pleural sacs and suppurative 

pericarditis; that means. inflammation of the pericardial sac; 

Q The pericardium is. the, sac the heart is inclosed. in? A Ye's;.sir 

Q, And suppurative pericarditis means an. inflammation 

accompanied by pus? A Yes sir. 

LeBARBIER: Imove to strike out the answer as in-

comp etent. 

TILE COURTi'. Objection overruled. Motion. denied. 

MR. LeBARBI.ER: I take an exception. 

CBOSS-IPXAMINATION-BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q Was the wound or the opening in the front or'.the-back. 

part of the body? A On the right side of the body, 

" Forward, right side forward? A It extended frOnka line, 

that would .correspond to the back line of the arn-pit over the 

seventh rib and on a level with the.nippJ.e, extended downward 

'and fokward to  a point over the 

k 

eighth rill 
A • 

. . ..... .................. 



-•11, }rip' I r. I 

mind -repeton. , You have. given ;that? A 

tifictly onthe right side of the body. 

Those incisions you say you observed,, are -you e to 

state what caused them? A The operation for the resection 

f the seventh and eighth 'ribs for drainage of the pleural sacse 

And not any knife in the hand of the defendant9 

that quest on 

Q Ho wimany incisions 

one measured four inches and the other at the lower angle of ' 

,the first one, going downward and backward, measured an inch and . 

Q Were both of those surgical? A' It zas my opinion, 

from the wound in the lung that the wound on the right side was 

of the chest was originally a stab wound  that was enlarged 

for the purpose of operation and res,eptiOn of the rib's 

BY MR. LeBARDIIV: 

That wound had healed? A No, 

The wound through the lung had healed. was saqe tissue 

That had healed? A :les 

Do .you know how long this man was in the hospital? 
, 



Was informed. I don't  Jul .14 t vv.\ long, of course. 

- was stabbed on the  28th of j'annarys according to the hospital 

report. I think hb was admitted to the hospital on the following 

day. 

Is the scar of the lung that you SPeak of a wound 

originally given by, we will assume, a stab wound? A Yes sir. 

Do you ' state positively that that wound on the lung, was 

healed? A Yes sir. There was some tissue. 

-Q, And a scar means that it was healed? A Yes, sir. 

•4--AnCI•do you stie that the wound that the instrument 

that had.inflictad that wound which had healed and over which 

:there was a scar had been a mortal wound? A From the' result 

• MR. LeBARBIER: :Now,' may I Call for an answer there-

on that question? 

MR..' MCDONALD:. Let him answer, and if you don't like, 

it yba:can object. 
A 

t1/1271. LeBARBIAI: I don't lika_these remark's of the: 

District, Attorney. 

THF COURT: That quastion_.is not Correct. YoU bsgin 

asking about the instrument and end by :asking about 

the wound. You say, '"Was the instrument a Mbrtal wound?" 

He can ' t answer that, 

ct I say,: was the wound, pita. eavv on the lung' that wab 

healed and. the soar of which you observed, was that or not a 

mortal, wound?, A If jou will. p t don me, You are referring to 

he lung' alone 

I 

,41 
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LeBBBIER 

an timer 'there your Honor? 

THE ..:po Ite can make one. 

Was ..4i.at a* mortal wound? A Ati the resul showed. in 

this case - 

R. .LeBARBIPB: Now, I respectfully ask if r maY have 

a categorical an stirer. 

THS COURT: Can -you answer it categorically? 

TEE WITNESS: I can't s•enswer it categorically. 

Q, You can't answer that? •A Nol sir. 

MR. McDONALD: He saYs, "categorically% 

BYTE!! COURT: 

Q Where was this pus cavity? A In the pleural sac. 

Q, Was that connected with this .wound? A Yes, sir; that 

is .the sac that surrounds ,the lungs and has one border or 

surface on the inner side of the chest wall and the other sur-

face is the lung surface, and that !sac was converted into a • 

large pus sac. 

BY MP. LeBABBEP: 

Q Prom inflammati on? A Yes, sir. 

Now, was that intlammati on produced by a, stab 

It was. 

Q, Were you aware that the deceased had been discharged 

.from the hospital? A was not0 He died at Bellevue Hospital. 

Q, Were you aware that he had been discharged from that 

wound? 

hOspital? A I was not. 



the stab Wound? 

aware that he had reported for work. in 

atter' part of -the month of February? , A I ,was n 

that. 

• Q, Were you aware that he had gone out - question withdrawn' 

-Were you  aware that .he had not reported to the hospital im-

mediately upon -assuming that to be so - upon receiving .a 

stab wound? A I think my, information from the police was to 

the effect that after he receiv ed the stab wound he received 

some treatment at his home and thereafter - 

1‘ Are you Sufficiently.familiar with the history of this 

case to state what he was suffering from in the' hospital during 

that month? A Yes, air. 

Did you see him in the hospital? •A did not. 

You are only concerned with the autopsy; is that so? 

A Exactly. 

Q, Couldn.t that inflammation around the heart that you 

speak of in that pus sac be produced from a cause other. than 

A such inflammation's can be produced 

by causes other than stab wounds. 

Q In this particular case, yo-u answer the, question? 

A In this liarticular case, from the fact that there was a pus. 

inflammation, a purulent inflammation of his: pleural sac, and 

the pericardium is frequently secondarily effected from that. 

Take, plain, every-day, ordinary English. Here 

Man whom it it said was stabbed, his wig was healed,but there 

was a scar on the lung; wouldn't that denote that inflamma.tien 
, 



.....o4oirroniaw014.6..0 ,0001*.07%op*   w4t '4wmcvi " 

• 

far as the lung was concerned, yes, but not 

O. far  as. the pleural vaCi Was' Concerned. 

Q Wouldn't denote that it had nothing to do with the;Pleurtt:: 

_ sac that you speak of? A Not .necessarily. 

Q Xot necessarily, but isn't it mIt within the realm 

of ordinary common sense that it would? A No,that is not 

true because it maybeinfected through such a sac, the pleural 

sac might be and, again the pleural sac might be infected directly 

through the 'chest wound. 

Q Well, apart from all the "might-bee" or "might-have-benns" 

:take this particular case' that we are concerned ,With here. 

is said that the man was stabbed in the lung, the .lung has 

- healed and there' was a scar showing that the 'Wound had healed. 

Now, I am asking you does that have anything, to do with 'the in-

flammation In this sac around the Itoax:1; assuming that 'the 

wound of the lung had healed and that there was.a scar of the 

.1upg, showing that it had healed? A As I Said before, the 

It 

pericardial sac ,inflammation was secondary to the inflammation. 

of the pleural sac ahd that in turn was secondary lo the in-

-flammation of the stab wound. 

Q I am asking you plainly upon a simPle statement of 

assumption, you might say. If the lung wound has healed, 

and *the scar shows that it has healed, did that have anything 

to do with the pus in this pl•eural cavity? A It might have 

been the source of infection. • 

1. 

• .4 
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Q That iB 'the .best you can say, it might _have beertl, s 

that right? ,A. Yes,beo.attse there vvits f;441rOth.er source of 

infec ti On through the chest wall. 

Q Was the wound in the lizng which youbsaw there and the 

scar healed, was that wound necessarily a mortal wound? A N 

*not necessarily a mortal wound. 

.LeBARBI1PR: That is all. • 

RFDIRYCT LXAMINATI ON BY 11R. Mc DOTALT: 

Q You said, Doctor, something about in answer to questions 

- put by counsel for the defendant, that you heard what the de-

fendant mas suffertng from at the  hospital. Youn,found out in 

some way. What was that' i A The police officer made the state-

- merit when he identified the body that the man had first went to 

_his home and was treated there by an ambulance surgeon. 

MR.' LeBARBIER: That is objected to, and I move to 

strike it out. 

THF COURT: He is simply repeating what he said in 

answer to you. He said it was. a police officer's 

information. 

Q Proceed. A That he went to his home and was seen 

•at his home by an ambulance surgeon who treated him there and 

left, and thereafter he was taken to the hospital. I think he 

also stated that the deceased had gone from home to the police 

• precinct. 

Did you have sufficient information ito determine what 

this man vvas suffering from at ,the hospital? 



LeBARBIHR: Objected:to 

. ready answered. 

TEE; COURT: Ye41 obj action sustained.* 

• 

MR. LeBARBLOR: I take 

sustained the obj action.* ,"--

Q You spoke of another pentration of -the cheat wa24.; 

at least, I understood you to so testify? A No s r, just one. 

There was only one wound, that measured four inches, and. then, 

another adjoining it, an inch and a h'alf and beneath that wouz 

and through it the seventh and eighth ribs had been reseoted, 

that is, pat of th.e rib removed, end that opening ther,a was 
,.• 

a gauze drain that communicated with the pleural sac, *so there 

Was one large° opening in the side of the chest wall. 

MR. LaBABBIER: 
r 

Now,, I respectfully move to strike , 

all the testimony of theT.-doetor that goes' to shoir-

I ,re6Pectfu1ly submit they have 66 relation 

. at all here to the wound which he stateei.was through the 

lung, .or ,the lung was affected. • That was healed, but: there 

was a scar. Apparently, these other things are 

to him by way of exploitation in the hospital. 

THE COT: Motion denied. 

Apart from the stab wound,'etia you fitd anyth 



accounted for the condition of embhyema or  pilein the p2. 

If 

P2OPOSS-2XAMINAIION BY MP. LeBARBI2P: 

Q Well, did you 'find any Condition that  might have 

from other than this wound on the lung and the sca that 

ob served? A No, sir. 

' Q That might have produCel that? 

Q Well, you  are not familiar with the history of the 

*man' $ case, were you? A -I—was not. 

Q -So, therefore, when y au say, "No:, sir , " you really do 

• - 
not mean ,t() say that you .know whether you do know, or not? 

Q, Only that?' A Yes, sir. 

Q iout a knowledge of the hi story of the man. in the 

that you observed that 

the lung, that was 

A Yes, sir. 

How big was that soarW--A It was one inch in depth 

and retracted from the surface for distance of half anirii 

across a space that measured a quarter of an inch. 

One inch in depth? A Yes, in the actual substance 

f'the lung e4sured one inch in depth. 

ob Serve, wasn? t • 



.......... 

Q And how long or how latge an opening was it, assume 

that it was a sofa, hoW big an opening would it hate been? 

A It measured about a quarter of an inch in width. 

'Q And in depth? A Length and 

Q• Now, that wound was healed, wasn't it? A* That vas 

healed. That was scar tissue. 

Andhave been a physician for a number . 

of years, you Of course  have had many occasions to obsetv& 

the tissues in autopsies, haven't You?, ,A Yea, sir. - . 

Q Now, confining yourself solely to the question of that 

• scAr which you say was healed, in so' far . as :.the ,sear was 'coil-

times. 

Q (Continuing) - the patient -was all right  wasn't 

A, Yes 

ME. LeBARBIAi: That is al'. I respectfully 

move to Strike out the .testimony  of this witAss on 'all , 

matters of testimony concerning that autopsy, except that 



1 

se, 

take ai Sxc opt 

' 

j 61-4 N GUIL 0 IL, called as a witnetis on behalf of 

The Peopb, being first duly sworn, testified as follows; 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.- cDONALD: 

Q Where do you live? A 493 'East One Hundred and Fifty-

'Street. 

Q, Wha,,:t'' is your Vusineps? A Working' in the ash business. 

Q. Are 310u in business for yourself now? A No,sir. 

. Q For whom are you working? A Norman Coleman. 

Q Were you working for C.F.Piel & Company on the.28th 

day f Ja.nu.ary, 1918? A Yee Fsir. 

Q Arji5.ci 'ou know William Cleary'? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you kni5w this defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did ,c)u se.e them there on the'28th day of January 

1918? A Yes „ ed.r. 

Q,' Did you see anything happen? A Yes,eir. 

•••• 

jtist tell us what you saw- happen? A Well, I was there 

with three other men, loading up a truckload of' ashes, and'" 

Cleary came, along and said .three of us were auPposed to go 
. " 

over to, the Park Avenue Hotel. 

Q Cleary said that? A • Orders from this here foreman 

I. am working for now, Jle, was Pi el s ioreman. He is in business 

for. himself now. 

, Q, Yes? 

, 

A And he had orders fOr three 'of u.S to go 

over to Park Avenue Hotel. , That is what Cleary told 

1, 4 

11 
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thi s 'Mayo, 

Tad you, and' the defen,d.. t? A Yes, sir. 

4 And anybody else? A He idn't.mentiozi. Three men 

was supposed to go over. 

Just tell us what happened then? A well, then. this 
_ 

Mike Mayo begins saying he wasn't going over, he was going to 

see Norman 

Mike MaYo, you say? - A Yes,sir. 

Q, .Vithich. man? A We used to call him Giglow. 

- 

Q Is that th-g_defendent here? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Tell us exactly whet was, said between Cleary and the 
, 

-defendant? A , Well, ,he begins kicking, saying he wasn't, going 

°via' after loading up this truck. 

Q What did he sa,y? A God damned if he Was going to 

load up -a truck and go and load another one, and the truck was 

pretty near ready, and the next thing I kn,sW, X seep this Cleary 

haul off and hit bim a punch in the nose. 

Q, And then what happened? A .His nose started to bfied-.-: 

Q, Whose nose? A Mike's here. 
7. 

Q, The defendant's? A Yes si r.,., 

Q, And ,what happened then? A After Sullivan Parted 

them, this Bill runs Around the truck. 
P 

Q, Did, they clench? Were they locked together, Mayo 

and Cleary? A .Yes, sir, they w ere 1-ocked- together, like. 

'Q 'You say •Sullivaii sepftrated. them? A Yes,sir. 

C4, And then what hapi3ene4? A Cleary run around_ the truck 

n-

538 

• 
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and.s 

a While. 

d ih. the' rpa n entranc,d f• the Martinique Hotel for • 

Q How long? A ,011,. ma,ybe. a minute or Eso. 

Q Then what happened? A And Mike got ready with his 
-2 - 

knife and started to run after him. 

What do you mean, he got ready- -with his. knife? - 
.. • 

A He wiped off his nose and went in h.is,pocket for his knife, 

Q -Did-you see him take out his knife?, A Yes, sir. 

Q 

Q, 

And what did he do? k Both. of them started to run. 

Did he open it? A I couldn't tell you whether .he 

opened it, or not; I .couldn't say.' 

, Q You say Cleary was then in the entrance? A the 

main entrance of the Martinique Hotel, standing there. 

Q, And how far away was he from the defendant, Mayo' 

A At that time he was about twenty' or twenty-five feet, 

should Judge, from the elevator. 

-Q And did. Mayo go over towards where Cleary was standing? 

-A . Yes,. that is what started him' runtiving. 

Q, That is what started who running? A Cleary. 

Q, What happeed then?. A / don't know ihat .happened 

then,., I see the two of them run off. 

Q Where did they' run, to.? A Bun as far as Sixth Avenue 

and Thirty-third Street and Broadway, 
• . 

Q- And did you isee what happened? A Nossir, I saw noth-

ing more._ 

Q, Hiiw long did yoU remain there? A liemained,th.ere 

, 

„ 

0 



probably an hour and a half after that. We got that load 

on and another load from the cellar. 

Q When Mayo was running, did you see anything in hi 

hand? A I saw his knife when he was starting off. 

Did you see .how did he hold it? A, All .1 know 

Q, Did -he have it open? Did you see the blade? A 

Is that the knife (handing. wi4,ness People's Fochibit 

that ring, in the end of i t. 

Q Now, then, did you see how near they Were together - • 

Yes,sir;, that is what I noticed 

withdraw that. How far away wasP the defendant Mayo, from 

Cleary when they started to run, when Cleary started tov tUn. 
YA. 

2*5 feet, I should judge. 

Q, Running west towards Broadway? A Broadway and Sixth 

Avenue,'frth.ere. 

Q Now, then, did you see the defendant get any nearer ,to 

Cleary than 25 feet? A Oh, .yes, he 'w,tis gaining; he saine . 

away wore ydu w4e 
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eardst to &jother9., A About at the, end of Thir.tY-th.ir 

Street arid Broadway. 
' 

Q, How near were they to each other at that time?. A I 

should judge it was over 6 or 7 feet away. 

Q,. And ClekLry was in front? A Cleary was in front. 

Q. And the defendant -about 6 or 7 feet away from him 

at that point? A Yes sir. 

Q, _Do you remember about what time it was, about what time . 

it „was? A I couldn't just tell you, but we used to general-

ly "b.-11 there about ten from that-until twelve.. 

Q It was between ten and twelve, you say? A I should 

think it was around between ,ten and alevGn; sowithing lic.e that, 

I couldn't just tell you; it was within half an hour ors an hour. 

Q Di d you aft erwa,rds se e. the defendant? A No* sir. 

Q, Come back to the hotel, the defendant, Mike' Mayo? 

Oh, yes, he come back. 

• Q And did he come back with an officer? A YesT'sir. 

Q Tell us what happened then? A when he come back with 

the officer he wanted me to tell what happened. 

Q, Who did, the officer? A My o, and I told him I wasn't 

going to _talk for nobody, I.had all I could do to ..talk for 

myself,' for him to state.his own -case. 

BY e13.0BI s ' 
- 

What is ,,that? A He wanted me t,o tell the officer,  

- what  app ened, what -I saw and I tbld him .to itate has own case, 

• it • 11 0 1 1  my, own b at tl-e 8 • 

r • 



Q, Did you see, anything else? Did. you see, the of:Ficer, 

get a knife  fipm tb,0 defendant? A The officer, yei3oir. . 

Q What? A The1 officer had, the knife in his hand. 

Q When he came back? A. Yes,sir. 

Q At least, when you saw WA? A Yes, sir.' 

Q. And is that the knife (handing witness People s 

No. 1)? A This is the .knife. 

MR. McDONALD: That is all. 

dilOSS-4XAMINATION BY MR. LeBARBIBR: 
• 

Q, How long had you been working - you had been working 

for Piel? A Yes, si 
• 

0.1:1i„. • 

How long had you been- working? A tor atott three months 
• 

40 And you .knew Mike, the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q He had been working' there, too, hadn't he? A Yes,sir. 

.Q, And was he a good' workma.n? A Pretty good workman, 

yes sir. 

Q I mean, a peaceable, quiet man? A He seemed t 
.„ 

all right with me. I never had no trouble with him. 

Q, On this night in qu.estion, did you see 'Mike and Cleary,  

before Cleary struck him .in the nose? A Yes,sir. 

Q,',Hovir long before? A It was about five minutes, I guess. 

Q, The defendant had helped load -that truck :cti dea t he? 

A Yes, air. 

04),'• 

0?" 

Q; He was doing hi s work, was& t he? A Yes, si r. 

Q And, wa.Vstaxted inHo lpad ai other truck? A si 
T' 

A 

j 
••,..1#1=.1 5, 5r, 

Y. 
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the other truck pulled up in front 

b.at loaded? A T Q iQloaded. '*"*' 

And was tie defendant about .to help load that truck? 

That was the time he got the orders from this ,here Bill 

Cleary to go to Park Avenvit.to load the other truck. 

0,

 

Did you sea Cleary come out of any saloon there? 

A That night? 

Q Yes. seen him come out of saloons in the early..  • 

part of the night:. 

-Q About how early in the night? A Well that I couldn't 

tell you,,. just how early it was. 

, I Mean, nine o'clock' A Nine Obitlt might ' have 

.Thean after nj.ne clock, for all I know. 

Q, Or half past nine or ten o'clock? A Z'couldn't 

'indi,cate any certain time, because we go in and out all night. 

Q, What)? We go in whenever we have a chance to go 

'there. 

Q He had been drinking that night? A Not any more than 

any other might. 

Q; I mean the deceased Cleary? A He had a drink or 

tWo, the same as myself,'.first thing. 

Q But didn't it make the deceased ugly? A I couldn't 

tell you that. 

Didn't he Come out and orderhith Up there in a very: 

v1,0,ent way? 

man. 

• 

A Just told him wilat orders he got from the fore-
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IOU; say. as tó.howCléary 'VMS a 

drunk,or sober?. A I couldn't tell you; 1 Wouldn't call 
• . 

him drunk; I-coUldn t gauge .whether he was sober, or not. 

Q You have seen a drunken man? A Yes sir.. 

Q You know what 'a drunken 'man I s? A I 11. 

Q, You have lived'some years he e in New York? A Yes. 
• 

Q And you are not prepared to say now that Cleary- was .not 

drunk, are you? A I couldn't say the man was drunk, no. 

Q When the defendant made this answer to Cleary, what did 

Cleary -do?' A He punched him in the n'ose. 

Q You saw-hira haul off 

that right? •A* Yes sir. 

Q, Square on the 

and punch hi'm in the nose; is 

nose, and called him sorae vile names? 

• A I couldn't tell you; I didn't hear him call any naties; I 

was busy wrestling cans. 

Q What is_that? A I was busy making a noise with the 

cans; those cans make aolot of noise. 

But you 'saw Cleary give hi'M a blow?, • A Yes 

And you saw' ±'t land 'on the defendant's nose?' A 

couldn t , say that. 

Q, And you saw blood there? A' YesIsir. 

Q, kid did you see the defendant try to wipe off the 

ood? A Yes, sir. 

Q, ,With hi s hands. A Yes, sir. 

Q, And there was bloodo,on his hands. A Sure. 

Q. Did Cleary knock. Mike down? A No dr. 

4. . • 



•/ 

Did. you see inks) the defendant, hit Oleary? A ,No 

did. rlot.• 

0, Because he was not near enough, is that why? A He 

didn't get a chance. 

Cleary immediately ran away, didn't he? , A Yes,sir.  

,Q And you saw him running down toward Thirty-third. Street 

and BrOadway, didn't you? A Yes,sir. 
And 

Q/Ail.the time _that you saw him Cleary was ahead, 

wasn't he? A Yea,sir.. 

Q And you saw a police officer there, didn't you? A No. 

Q Didn't you see a police officer? -A N.No, 

Q What was  the last you saw of Cleary going away in the 

" distance? A Going off the other side of Broadway, towards 

Sixth Avenue going west. 

Q And the defendant stop' p 68 him? A The defendavt was 

after him. 

Q But he ,stopped?. A Stopped? 

Q Yes, when he got a certain distance. A He got'out 

of my sight;  I couldn't tell you when he stopped. 

Q He did he get out of your, sight? A Yes,sir. 

Q Did Cleary get out of Your sight? A Yes, sir. 

• Q, How far had they gone before they did get out of tour 

Might? A Across-Broadway, tinder the 'elevated •structure there; 
11d 

it is kind of dark there, they 

get under that  unless 'you are 

get out of your sight* When they 

watching pretty 63.o.ErelY. 

• 

A 

' 
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I Vow I know he had a knifs, gOing after him,. 

Q How long was it then before the defsndant came back? 

A I guess about five or ten minutes, something like that. 

Q And he went to work for Vie rest of the night didn't 

he? A Yes sir. 

Q Did he say ,that he had got away and cut Oleary? 

I didn't hear him Say a word about that. -

Q You heard the .police officer speak to him,. didn't 

you? A Yes;s1r. 

q Did the police officer ask him if he had .out glea-er 

A No, I didn t hear him ask him anything like that. 

44' 

' as far as you could see, Cleary was still ahead 

of the defendant, that  right? A Yes sir. 

q When was it the defendant first took out ;a knife?' 

A Right 'there at the elev,ator, when he started to run after 

Cleary 

Q Cleary was ahead of him then, wasn't he? A Yes, sir, 

Q He didn't take out his knife where the fight took place,. 

did he  A Well, itnwas right there along. side of the IrUble. 

Q Did he take the knife out there? A 'Right there 'along 

Side the truck, between the truck and the elevator, where we were 

working. 

#nd he opened the knife? A I couldn't tell you any 

thing about the opening part; I just noticed the handle; that 

What is that? A I didn't hear him. ask him anything 

like that. 



Q, Atd you hear him tell. the Police officer that Cleary 

had struck him in the nose? 

Q What? A 'No. 

Q Did you see the knife at any time open" A I saw it 

open when the officer brought it back, I saw it in the officer's • 

hand, that 'was when' he came back to the side of the truck. 

Q, Were you right there? A I was right there, working, 

loading tiP the ashes on the truck. 

o look for any. blood. 

BY ME. LeBARBIErl: 

Q, That did, the officer do? A The officer didn't do 

Q Did he do—anything? 

Did you see Cleary after that? A 

Q, Didn't see him the next month? ' A' NO, sir; 

MR. LeBARBIER: That is all. 

MR. McDODTALD: That is all. 



DIRECT 11AMINATION BY MR itlfc DONALD: 

Where d you live? 949 Third Avenue 

,g at ts your business Sullivan? A Laborer. 

Q And by whom are you employed? A C. P. 

Q And what i a their business? A Priva,te ash business. 

Q Keep your voice up? A Private ash bUsiness. 

Do You know, or did you know, William Cleary? A 

Q, Do you know the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were you working with these two men on the 28th day of 

January, 1918? A Yes, sir. 

Q And where were you working? A Thirty-third Street, 

the Martinique Hotel. - 

And what were you doing? A Loading ashes on a truck. 

.Q 'Did you hear Cleary Say anything to the defendant? A Yes. 

,Q„ Were you .downstairs: working with Cleary? A Yes; sir.. 

Q, In the basement of the Martinique Hotel? A YeE3,sir. 

Q, You and who? A William Cleary, the deceased and 

the foreman. 

Q, And anybody else? A And the foreman. 

Q• And the foreman? A Yes sir. 

Q Is.that Norman? A' Yes sir. 

Q, Just answer thi s '!Yes,” or "n'o. " Did Norman tell 

Cleary to do something? A .Yes, 

up. 

And then did you and Cleary leave the basement? A Y 

0, Did Cleary say anything to the defendant Yvhen he came 

the basemen-t out Jon ,t he street? A  
' 



Just tell us what he said? e told the defendant 

the Park AveAu-e Hotel and put on another lod over there. 

es; nio9;) then, --did the defendant say anything? He 

refused to do. Just tell us what he said? A He told him to 

Q Did anything else haP.Ps4. then? 

• Q irhat. A Three cants of ashes come up on an e 

I was taking them off, and I saw the two inasouffle. 

Q Who? A William Cleary, the deceased, an,d MI 

then happened? A A few alinutes later, Willi-am 

'Cleary- Walked towarde Broadway, and Michael 1..ayo run after him 

with 

Did you see Mayo do anythiiig? A Yes.. 

Q Did you see him take the knife out of .his pocket? A Ye 

Q, Where -was he when he took the knife out of kis pocket? 

A. Right at the Martinique Hotel, on the .sidewalk. 

Q • And -did he open that kncte? A Yes,

'BY THP'CCPRT:, 

Did you hear him say anythineTdfore he followed him? , 



BY Mc1)011ALD: 

What happened then? A 

Q Did Cleary do anything? Did he walk, or run, or what? 

A Cleary run. 

Q And did Mike run after *him? A 'Yes. 

Q Mayo? A Yes. 

Q, With the knife in his" hand? A Yes, dr. 

Q Now, tell us just what did you do then? A I run 

after him. . 

Q Anybody else run -with you? A White. 

Q, Where did you run to? Just tell Ile what_ happened'? . A 

Michael MayostUdk lim with the knife at Thirty-third Street and 

Broadway. 

Q Counsel can't hear you. Talk up.-l'oud? A 1 say, Michael 

Mayo stuck the -deceased on Thirty-third Street and BroadwaY. 

Q, And where did- how far away from the defendant and.  

Cleary were you? A About ten or twelve foot.-
- 

Q, Right behind him, and Cleary .was running west? Wait 

on Thirty-third Street. 

Q Mid what-did ),01.4. see the defendant do? A I saw him 

-stick him with the knife. 

Q Where.1d  he stick him? A Right her -4-on—the right 

side (indicating right .side). 

Q, ROW- did* he strike him? Did you pee the, defendant 

strike tie bl'ow? A Yes ir. 
0 

6. 

4, 
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sintlitt 

How di&h tr. k ? A This way (illustrating), 

Now, tfien what happened after that? A The deceased 

kept on running west, He put on more speed then. And Mic'iiier" 

Mayo continued atter him. 

Q, The defendant Continued after him? A Yes sir. The 

officer caulght him on Sixth Avenue and Thirty-thi d Street and 

brought him n back: 

.Did you go .up to. where he was ttopped by the Officer?, 

A. '.Yes sir. 

Q, And then what happened? A The. officer brought 'him. 

back to the' Martinique Hotel.. 

Q Yes?, And made him pull out the knife, so, the officer 

looked at the knife. ,., 

,IEVthat`the kAife (indicating People's Exhibit No. 1)? 

Yes,. that is te knife. 

Q What happened then? bid you see. Cleary after that.? 

A No, I n_eVer seen .Cleary since. 

Q Now, when yuu saw the, defendant take the knife oat of 

his pocket on the second occasion; when he came back with: 

the knife, just .tell us, did you notice the knife? A Yes, sir. 

.Q, Any marks .on it?. A There waS blood stains on it. 

Q. You Say that the defendant -Struck the deceased at hirt 

third Street and Broadway? A Yes I sir. 

What part of-T-hirty- third • Street and Broadway?.  

the middle of the street on Thirty.-Thir'd Street. 

Q, The middle of Broadway. Had the deceased crossed the 



sot:ail-1)6.6nd traec at roadway when y 

Q, Tits., defendant had crossed the southbourid tracks, 

hail he? 

Q, When you. saw him strike the 'deceased?,, 

Tell 'us jtist 'exactly where'. each one was when the blow 

was Struck? A The b‘ow was struck before he_r_eached the 

north-bound track of Broadway on Thirty third Street. 

ITtre will tak earl adjournment now. (To 

the. jury) •• Gentlemen, the law requires in a criminal' 

case tha't on every adjournment of court the judge pre-

siding must request the jury not to form or express 

any opinion as to the de fe n dant ' s guilt or •innocen c e 

until the case i s finally submitted o the jury, and not 

to discuss t he case among themselves or with other. people. 

The. law do es this for the purpose that the jury may 

keep their. judgment evenly balanced 'until they come to 

discuss, the. case in thejury-room. That is to say, 

during thetrial cf acase you should simply exercise your 

memory, make your memory a storehou se, of the facts, and 

into -the jury -room wi th. an impstrtial mind, and then 

*.4w- begin to argue aboutit,-so  that you do not go to thejury. 

-rccOMW thy our minds ma,cie up in adlianc el or go',‘ as partisans-

of one side or. the 'other, Therefore, on each.adjourn- , 
.„ 

Ment of 'this case, I shall be 'obliged to repeat.- that 



Uo1ZTtthereuponaccord1ng1y adjourned the 

.further 'hearing of this trial.,*t4tomorrow, April 

at ten thir ) 
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THS PEOPIAB; ETC. gainst- ISIC.HASI; MAYO. 

-New Yo'rk, Tuesday) April 1918. 

• TRIAL -TONTINUED 

JOHN SULLIVA NI, resumed the stand. 

CPO SS- FXAMI NATI 011 BY 10. ‘LeBARBI.1311: 

, 

Q, For whom were you working on the night of the occurrence? 

A For C. F. Piel & Company. 

• half. 

.. • 

How long had you been working? A AboUt a year and a 

,And had the defendant also been working? A He was work-
. • 

ing that night-, yes. 

Q, Just where did you see the defendant stabbed? A On 

Thirty-third Street e st, of Broadway. 

Q, That is east oe north bound tracks? A Yes, 

just right at the north b nd tracks on the east side of it. 

• Q, And right  there it wa light, wasnit it? A Yes. 

Q' Very light? A You meat bright? 

Q, A bright light, yes. A Yes, it was kind. of .bright. 
, 

Q, Arid there were a number of, people there?,- Well, only . 

just -as qsual. 

Q  Wellr 8 usual at that time. of night in that section of 

., • 
the city it is pretty crowded'? 

_crowded. 

A Well, not quite extra 

Well, there were at least a dozen people there, 

wasn't there? A Well, about that yes. 

R,' Well,' would you say two dozen or more? A Well, maybe. 
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Q;In.fact, the Usual crowd going up and; down "Yes. 
Q• Arid how far away from that.particular spot at that 

moment were you?' vAilf About ten or twelve feet. 

Q Clary lad been running ahead of the  ;defendant, hadril* 

A* Yee. 

Did you seethe _defendant catch up to Clary? A Yee, 

Q, And'get in front of him? A Not in front of him. 

• .Q But up at him? A Just at him, yes. 

Q, Where did you see the police oiftcer?, A On Sixth 

Avenue and Thirty-third Street. • 

Q; Arid hoi,v nea,r to you was he? A He come right up to me,, 

Q, Just at that moment? A Not at that moment, when he run 

across over from Broadway to Sixth Avenue.. 

Did you, have a, talk with the police officer.? A ,I was 

talking to him, yes. 

Did you tell him you saw this roan stab him? A No, 

didn't tell him I saw him stab him. 

Q, Did you tell the police officer at that time, when you 

say ks you had ,just.seen a man stabbed, did you- tell the .... 
4, 

police officer, "I saw him stab -Glary'"? A Yes, I told the 

police officer that the .defendant 13 tabbed the *deceased. 

Q, You told him that? A lies, sit. 

Q, Why did you say "rib" just a moment 

understand .what you said. 

af; ? 

Q -What? A I di cin t understand What you said. 

:didn't 

Q, Is the officer here in court.) A yes, he is h, re 

4 

IOW 

. .. 
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dicating Officer Donaldson) . 

Q, Is that the officer? A ir? 
THE  COURT: 

61 

He has already said that was the Officer. 

MR. McDON.ALD: He has already anBwered that. 

-Q Is that -the officer? 
4. 

MR. McDONALD: I object to that as already answered. ‘"r-

THE COURT: Obj ecti on sustained. 

MR. LeBARBIa: I obj'eldt to the District Attorneyr
. 

constantly interrupting. 

THE COURT: There is no objection to the Distriot At-

torney obj eating. 

- MR . MODON ALD: -objiOted, and .the objection has been 

sustained. 

T.iE COURT: Mr. McDonald, simply make obj ections to 

• the Court. 

MR, McDONAI,D: Yes, sir. 

Q What I want to know is, did you t*ell. Officer Donald-

son that You saw the defendant stab Clary; , "yes, 4 Or "no"; 

"yes,'" or A i didn t tell ..1,4m. 

......Jvt. LeBARBIfB: Now, ,pardon me  your. Honor  ay I. „ . " ........ 

get a categorical answer? 

THE COURT: Did you •tell the officer that yousair him 

stab Clary? 

THE. WITNESS: Yes,sir. 

You told him that? A Yes., 

Q, W1.a.tdidyou tell him? A I told him he stabbed him. 

r,1 



officer'‘here? 

A Certainly, 

that to the officer? A I told' him he 

And did you subsequently see the defendant with the 
- 
What is that? 

Q (Queetion read by stenographer, 'as-follows: "And did 

'ubsequentlyeethe defendant with the officer there?")?., 

I seen", the, defendanti.yeis*. 

Q And did yo U ,0.0. the knife ikthe def endant s hand? . 

saw him stab the defendant? A I saw him, yes; I told him When 

I seen the officer. 

•q And no arrest 

And did you continue to work that 

fendant worke,d that night Yes. 

How].or3gdidthebfficer staythere with the defendant 

Did you hear the officer.ask the defendant any question? 



What did h 

Q 'What else did he say?... 

tickler. 

He told.hi 

He said the 

show the knit' 

ife Was a rib 

What else? A That is all I heard the officer say. 

Q Did you hear the officer ask the defendant if he had 

stabbed Glary? No. 

Q, Did the defendant ask him that? A Well; I don it remember 

Q, Did you not say to the defendant himself that .you did not 

---see him Use any knife upon Cl' A ee whop 

Q. (Q,uestion read by stenograp,her, as follows: "Did you 
• 

not say to the defendant him,se that you did ,not see him use 

it any knife upon Clary?")? A No. 

Q At no time? 

. LeBARBTER:' That ,is all. 

, - 
WI LLI AM Vti"H I T Et called as a witness on behalf of 

the Peoplem being first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY Mil. Mc DONALD: 

Q, Where do you live? A 102 West Fifty-fourth Street. 

Q, traiat, is your business) Mr. White? .A I work for  6 F. 

- 

Piel. &Company. 

• Speak  loud.' A C. P. :Piel & Company. 

Q, How long havt you been working..Jor C. 3. Piel & Com 

A Abijut ten mOriths. 

&We 4 

Were you. working there on tht 28th day. of 'January, 

1918? A Yes, sir.. 



Did•-you. know the dee eed:Wiilia.mO1az 

knew him since he has been working .fOr 

And_you know this defendant? 

there together. 

Where were yOu working on the 28th day of January 

what particular place, I mean? A We were working at th 

ique Hotel when the fi.ght 'came 

I disremember; it was between ten and eleven 

when this fight came on. 

Between ten and eleven 'clock at nig 

Now, then ,just tell us what you saw happen? A Well, 

I 'jUst eerie' frob the ,dump with the other truck with the 

A From Long I Bland. 

loading this .other truck. 

Me and the chauffeur 'gets off the truck. 

,This here Clary Oanfe:uPstairs on the elevel,tor. 

You mean from the basement up to the street? 

and said that the foreman said GO to the Park 

Avenue Hotel and put. on a load,; Well, they commenced chewing 
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, 

. I wasn t•paying no attention who iitae aigUing 

because was 'cold., trying to get down stairs.- • . , 

Q. •Yes?' . A And after a while I seen* Clary punch thit" 
• 

,man in the face, and they muffled around there 'a while.' 

'Q, Who scuffled? ..A •Clary. 

Q Clary, the deceased, and Mayo, the defendant? —A Yes, 

sir, and P41.11van, parted them. 

That le the last -witness? 

, 

A Yes, and some cans Wpm 

there, some ash cans was on the elevator, bn the left hand 

side of them, Sullivan goes there -to tale th e cangt,9f the 

• elevator, and Michael Mayo was standing the,re •& the side of 

wiping some blood_ oft„hiii face., 

.q:- Yes? A Clary was standing at the far end of the truck, 

near the Martinique main entrance, with one foot up, on the curb 

and at that time Mayo wheeled, reached his hand. in his pocket 

and pulled his knife out, and 1a,trne both of them4it 

• Out, down the Street towardE3 BroadWay. 

Q Did you see the defendant with a knife in his hand?-• ' 

A. Yes *he 'opened the knife. .1 

. Q Is that ,the knife (handing witness People's Exhibit No.1 

• 
A That is the knife," with the rangin the handle.m . 

What happened then? A They 1;i.rent running towards the 

west side, towar.dS Broadway,: on this, side; before they got to 

the, coi..riep  between the McAlpin and. the cigar stand on, the 

corner, Mayo caught up with Clary. I run behind him and 

• ‘ 



Q, YOU hollered that -out? A Yes, I was right behind him. 

Mayo was in between me and bla,ry. 

Q Yes? A And at that tine Mayo caught up to Clary; 

Clary must have stopped to get something to H4thimwith, 

and before he could get it this man stuck the knife in him. 

Q, Clary had hi; back to hi r al the time, did he? A Y 

Clary had his back to him all the time. 

see Mayo strike him, strike Clary? 

had the knife -in his right hand. 

A He must have stabbed him in the right side, 

because he had the knife" in his right hand. I was as close 

rou and I. apart now. got those close to, them. 

Q What happened then? A' They kept agoing 

Q, Who? A Mayo and Clary kept agoing. 

Q, After that blow was Struck by Mayo,- did Clary 

r that .cbritinüe. on? A Oh, he got a little fas.ter. 

Q And did you continue on 

Q, Di ci Mayo? A No .sir. 

Q, What happened then?. Did you see anybody stop Mayo? 

sir. I •see the cop bring Mayo back up the street; 1 

standing up in front of the main entrance when Mayo and 

ct you iielar th 



his ,knife, or before' he went after Clary" , 

hear him say a word. 

BY ifii. MCDONALD: 

When the Officer brought Mayo back, you say that you 

had gone back to the hotel? A 1 wp,.13 standing back UP there. 

bY t ha,f n -he truck, e the mai entrance.) 

--1 Q And just tell 'us what happened then? A The cophsd 

this knife in his hand; he looked at it and hesaid, "That is 

1111-5- gelilt,rilit sticker- that is a rib-sticker you have got there; 

you better be careful about that knife"; that is all I heard 

the cop say about the knife. I t1nk he takes this knife out 

. Q Had Mayo and Clary gotten to the we side.of Si 
• 

Avenue before the blow was  Struck? 

side of the car tracks, the.Broadway-car 

Q And that is in the County 

McDONALD: Your witness. 

CROSS1-FXAMINATION BY Mil. LeBARBIHE: 

Q -Where was Sullivan all this time? A I don't know,. I 

wasnl.t looking for Sullivan. 

Q Was Sullivan back with the officer 



-Q And they came . up to where') A ' Which') 

Q Thercarne up to where?' A ' Thef"Y came 4 back to the 

, 
Was Sul14.,KAM,..,:,4here at 'that* time? A I don't know where Sulli-

Sullivan was there. seen him part the men, .bu 

re he 'was then I don't know. 

Was Sullivan at any-time close up by the defendant and 

officer? A The deferidant-an',d the officer? 

wasn't notiaing that 

'How far was Sullivan away? A When the fight started? 

No, after the officer brought Clary back - after the 

officer came back with Mayo to where you say they did, and 

were. toither, how far was Sullivan axay from theii? 

never noticed that part of it. 

4 Ma you eyee Sullivan 

A When they started to fighting. 

Q And you saw the beginning of the fight, didn't you? 
4t, 

'Zee. 

Q, And Clary commenced to fight, didn't he  

4 And 'he punched the defendat 

Q, Did the nose bleed?, A Y 

(e And you saw blood .ove 



_A 

4 

A, Yes 

.And over the. hands of the defendaht? 'A Yes. 

..taind it was after all this that the defendant took the 

'knife out, of his pocket, wasn't it? A -Yes. 

And did you See hill; open—the knife? A Yes. 

Q  Did you at any time hear the defendant say to the 

Officer that he had Stabbed Clary? A Did I hear what? 

Q. Alike say at any time he had stabbed Clary. A Did I 

hear him say so? 

Q, Yes. No, 11,didn't hear say so. 

you were near enough to hear it? A I could 

heard it,. I guess, I was close enough. 

Q When you were close enough, .as you Say now, to that, 

.was Sullivan there at that time? A I didn't notice; I didn't 

look for Sullivan. 

Q At all events you didn't hear the .defendant say that 

he had Jetabbed Clary? A I never heard say, that. 

14; Q When the officer came up - question withdrawn. What 

then happened? A Just while the officer and Mayer were 

there what happened? 
t • 

Q 'Yes. A I don't, understancl_what you mean? 

Q, Well Ai d. youo t ell the officer that you saw the de?.. 

fendant stab Clary? A I said nothing to the officer about I 

seen him do nothing. 

Q, Did 

that' 

understand you to say now that you didn't say 

kel 

the officer beeause you say you said you saw nottA 

• •A t. 



How is that? 

withdraw the question. Did you. say to the officer a 

that time, while the officer and Mayo were present, that you 

did not see 14m do anything? Al didn!t say a word to. the 

Q, - Did the of  ask Mayo if he had Stabbed Clary? 

di dn! t hear that part, either. 

MR. LeBARBI.k: hat- is all 

SWINTE L, called' as a witness, on behalf 
.. 

of The 2.eople,, being, first duly sworn, testified as follovvd 

DIRECTVITAMINATIOI\T BY 111i. ffcD0NALD: 

Q, Where do you lire? A 102 Sixth. Avenue. 

Q, Where did you live on the 28th day of January, 

On  Twenty-ninth Street, sir. 

Q, - 2].4 VIrest .11Wenty-ninth Street? A Yes 

Q, With whom did you live _there? A I lived with Clary sir. 

With whom? A I lived with Clary. 

Q Joseph Clary?'- .A Joseph ‘Clary, yes sir. 

A 111415ther Of WilliamClary? ,'"!A 

On what floor did you lilre? A On the top floor, 



000000 

U open' the, door? A I opened. the door, 

Was anybody else in the apartment at that time? 

•wife 'was home at the time. 

Q, Tell us what' - 

A tToseph 

A After.l opened the door he came 

in and•I asked what the trouble was, and he said he got stabbed-

Q Never mind- telling what he .said. He told you some 

thing.) A Yes, sir, he told me something. 

Q, Did yotqnotice anything about his Appearance? A No, 

sir not at the time being, but after- a while he 'asked me to 

-4, Eind g t the)\doctor, to ring up the Bellevue Hospital. 

\' THE  

you did. 

Don't tell what y Asaids Just tell what --

Q What di d. ou do after he told you abmethirig? A L 

went to the, Thirti th Street Station House, and :.they Wouldn't 

ring there for an a4bulan,9e at the, time. 

Q, Then you werlt, to another station, house/ A I went on 

Eighth Avenue ahd sked the  officer will he ring, and: he  said 

"no," and I went 'to ,the Thirtieth Street - Thirty-seventh 

Street Station Huse. 

9, Then after 'y.qu went t\o the Thirty-seventh Street Station 

house did you go back home? A Yes, sir; 

Q And did yoU yie-c 4,ry \there thew, A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you notice anything about his appearance at that 

time? , A When the doe tor came. 

Q,• Well, later`a doctor came? A ° Yes, sir. 

Q- And did Officer Campo come there toi5? A 



0: 

0 

• 

Q. Did yOu notice anything about the appearance of Clary 

.plat night? A I. noticed his appearance after the doctor was 

fixing tlie wound', sir. 

Q Did you see anything? A Yes, sir. 

Q What did. you see on Clary? A I saw on the right side. 

Q What? A Stabbed. with a knife in. the right side. 

Q -What? A He vas stabbed. in the right side. _ 

Q, How long did he remain there? A You mean at the house, 

sir? 

Q, Yes, at your house. A He remained there, I guess, a 

little over„. half an hour. 
- 

Q, Did the ambulance stIrgebn take him away? A No, sir. 

What happened? A He sat there a little while, and 

after that I took him to the car, sir. 

Q, And, put him  on the car? A. Yes, sir. , cp. 

Q Did you see C,lary again-•after that? A I 'didn't see 

him any more, sir, • 

MR. McDONALD: That is all. 

LeBARBIFE: I move to _strike out the .testimony of 

.1 • -this witness, on the ,ground it is not competent, relevant, 

or material. • 

THE COIMT:' The motion is denied. 

V. Le-BARKER: I take an exception. 
• 

CROSS-grAMINATIOX BY MR. LeBABBIER: I. 

QWlat car did you put Clary on? A On the Highth Avenue 

car, sir, surface car. 
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sir, 

P YoU know. the deem:I-ant? A No„ s 

Q Never had any  talk with No Sir; 

Q That is all you know about this case? A That is all, 

MR. LeBARBIHR: That is all. 
*S. 

- JOHN W. DONAL DSO N, Police Officer, shield. 

No. 8534, attached to the Twenty third.Precinct, called as 

a witness on behalf of the People, being first duly sworn, 

, testified as follows: 

DIRFCT FXAMIThy,TION BY TR." MCDONALD: 

Q You were a member of the Police Force of the City of New 

York on the 28th of January, 1918, and you still are? A Yes. 

• -On that day,. between the hours of eight and twelve in 

the, evening, were you on post, any particular post.? A Yes 

Q, Where were jou on post? A Sixth Avenue from Thirty-

second Street -to Thirty-sixth Street. 

Q During the course of your period:9n post ,on the evening 

of that day, did you see an hing? A Yes sir. 

•Q. Do you remember .seeing this defendant at any time? 

Yes 'I do; 
• 

Q, Just tell us what you saw? A About somewhere around 

the neighborhood often,  or t‘en- thirty or thereabouts I was on 

Sixth Avenue between 114 r y- sedo d and Thirty-third Streets, I 

was standing alongside of some Chauffetlis, re,gulating the line 

• 

• 40 
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when I heard sort of shout. I looked about towards Thirty-

third Stree from which direction came, I saw a colored man 

running across the Broadway, tracks, across the Sixth Avenue 

tracks, and running through Thirty-third Street, towards 

Seventh Avenue. Immediately behind him, about twen 

thirty feet was another man with brown overalls on. 

looked for a moment, and they continued on running.. I took a 

quick step walked to the corner  and looked down,  and I saw 

them still running. I concluded that there was something the 

matter, and I ran after this Man. Who was in the rear. I stopped 

him and asked him, "What is the matter?" I saw he had blood 

on his face. He says, "The God damned black son-of-&-bitch 

hit me in the face": I said "What fall:" He said, "I don't. 

know nothing. The black hastard," he said.. He said., "What, 

'is the Matter, you no lock him up?" I said, "Where is he?" 

He said, "There." Another man, Who  appeared to me to be 

colored man wham I had seen pass before him, was almost dawn 

hear Seventh Avenue at the time., 

happen?" 

• 

"YVhere did the fight 

"Down there," pointing in the directfon. 

towards:the MartiniqueuHotel. I says, "Come on back here a 

minute and we will see vvhat is the matter"; so I started to 

walk him back. across the Sixth Avenue tracks and across the 

Broadway tracks. A few 'people came up to me and told.me there 

was a fight and that this 'colored an. re,n" away,, 'that hit- this 

Itdlian, so- one 'man came up along side of me and says, 

• 

"Say, 
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officer, think he has got a knife in his pocket". I turned 

,around to this man along side of m?, and I sWist "Rave you •got 

a knife?" He says, "Yes." I says, "Let me see it." He r. 

put his hand. in his pocket, pulled it out at the ,pame time 

opening it up. I took the. knife away from. towar-ds 

the Martinique Hotel, the main entrance, where there was so/lie 

ash cart drivers-r—quite a crowd about, I should say about a 

dozen or a dozen and ,a half people gathered around. 
o 

Q, Keep your voice up, please. A About- a dozen and% 

a half people 'gathered around me, when I started to question 

some of them. .One man came orer to us and' says "Say, ‘Officer, 

I think that, man has been stabbed." I says, "Which one?" 
• 

He said, "The tan that run away". 
, 

MR. LeB.ARBIEB: I mcive to strike that out as incompetent,; 

— VHF COURT: Yes. Never mind what other people said to 

you.. Just :confine your self to What the dendnt. said. 

Was there any blood on this*knire? 

Tag. WITNESS: Yes, there "MS blood on the knife, but 

there was also blood on,the Italian's hands, as he Was 

%putting his hand up every once in a while and wiping,his 

nose with both hands and the blood was running down his 

face in a slow' manner, but it didn't appear as though he 

had taken a handkerchief out' of his pocket; he used his 

hand; and I thought at the,.tinie that the blood on  the knife 
• 

•Q :Never mind Officer, What you thought. You '.-saw blood on 

•-r• 
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the knife did you?.. A Yes, sir. 

s• that the knife indicating People' s Exhibit X . 1) 

A Yes ,,sir,  

*InViht happened then, Officer? A I again questioned 

p eople' around there who had seen the fight, to see if I could 

ascertain whet was they.cause or what was the trouble. Some 

people said they didn't see it, .some people said it was only -; 

MR. LeBARBIER: That is objected to. 

Q. You can't tell us what you, said to others or what 
„ 

others said.to you, unleSs it was in 'the presence of the de-

fendant,.: A Yes, he was there at all times.. 

tr. 

Q All right, go on. A I asked the door-keeper, ,or. 

the footman at the Martinique Hotel 

THE COURT: Unless he took part in the conver.sation 

that wouldn't 'make it competent, the mere fact that he 

was present would not make it Competent. Recent decision's 

in the Court of Appeals along that line have cut down 

_the former practice in the matter so that it is'not safe -

take it. 

Q

 

Don't tell us what you said to anybody else, or what 

anybody Eilse, said to you. Tell us what happened after that. 

A After examining the knife I closed it up arid handed it 

b4Ck to the defendant -and told avi-la that if he could not  

with his hands that a knife was not  to be used, and there was 

no reason why he should use alenife at any time: . 

Ana then you went' back to your post aid ,4you? fter 

4, 
V. 
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had COPTetdition with a few Other people then Ieburned 

my P 0 EV , 

77 

4/ bid you see Clary at all?. .A Only t the time he ran, 

• , 
ast  at a distance. 

all 
, 

Q And/you know is he was a colored mat, running in front 

of Mayo? A ,=Riinning.:through Thirty-third Street*. 

IR. McDONALD: That is all. 

CROSS,EXAMINATION BY, MR. 1JeBARBI.YR: 

Q 40 arreit was made, was there,' Officer?,. A Not atthat 

time. 

Q. $ulliVan state to .you, in the 'Presence of the de, 

fendant that night, that he saw the defendant stab Clary.? 

A Well, that I am unable to say, because b ere was*a number' 

of;people spoke to me, but I couldn't idtify any certain one 
t# 

You heard Sullivan testify? vA- I did. 

Q; Gettin-g—cour Memory7_back'as well as you can, refreshing 

it, dd yoU state that Sullivan said to .you that nightthat-11..e 

saw the defendant stab Clary? A -Well, it was not ,put in 

. that way. IONwas told that the man 

q NO by Sullivan'," A Well, thah,I really couldn't say,. 

Sullivan; somebody said to mev but who it was, I really could 

notstate. 

, Now when you saw Cleary running, where did you see. 

him? A Crossing the Broadway tracks running west. 

Q Had he crossed the Broadway track yet? A He was on 

the tracks, crossing.  

'.11#1• 

' ri" 
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,On the north bound track" A Weli, he we just crosp,kng 

i4 tracks, the four  tracks toether0 

Q / mean, on Broadway" A Crossing' the ,Broadway tracks. 

Q And at that time, if I understood you correctly, and I 

ask you Whether it is correct', there were some twenty-five or 

thirty ,people behind him? 'A Well, about that. 

Q Did you at any time ever see the defendant catch Up to - 
Clary? A No. 

Q Do yo-u know hether an investigation was made that night 

by the police in the West Thirtieth Street tcation? A A 

the West Thirtieth Street station? 

Q Yes. A I do not know. 

Q Where is the station house there? A. Our station house 

is in West Thirtieth ,Street., 

Q, Do you. Icow whether any investigation was made that 

gM, about this matter? A I- never heard of any. 
P-

Q, How long after this, 'if you remember, was it that the 

defendant was arrested? • A I don't -know; 

NM. LeBARBIER: That is all. 

N I a HOL A S C AMP 0,  Police Officer, shield No. 9214, 

attached to the 'Twenty-second Prebinct, called as a witness 

on behalf of the People,, being first) 'aly sworn, testified 

as. follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MB. McDONALD: 

Q, On the ''28th day of January, 1918 you were an officer 

•"ti 

• SM. 



war.hogilif ' 

Q What station house are you  attached '6' 
seventh Street station house, Twenty-second P 

9, And that is- betWeen what' avenues?— A 

Did you see Swintel at the station house? A 1 did. 

You had a talk with him? A I did. 

And after you talked with hit di d you go any place? 

Q, Did you see anybody there? , 

Q Did you as one William Clary? 'A I d 

• Just tell ,us what you did and what you saw? 

was lyinein the kit -hen, the centre of the kitchen; o 

stomach, and groaning'. Tie t'Ord'me, he had been r 

Q Never mind; you can't 'tell us • what he told you. Ile told 

you something? A Yes, sir. 

Q And after he told you something what :did you do? 

Al raised his shirt and undershirt in the rear and saw a stab 

• wound in his back, on the right 'hand side, an I immediately 

summoned an ambulance froth the New York Hospital. 
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tir 

• q • And what happened then? A The-tambulance arrived about 

:twenty -minUtes tater, which would be about ternminutes past 
, 

midnight'. Dr sevioei. teated ,larit for the stab-wound in 
• 

*his bapk. -,drebsed himself and'left the 'apartment with. 

me, saying that he was going,," r • 

Q, Never mind; You can't tell us what he said. Did you 

leave Clary then later? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you se& Clary•again after that  A I did;'

" 
Q Where? . A In the Mortuary, at the foot of Fast Tit.:7' 

. ninth Street. 

Q And you there tdentified_Clary to -Dr. Schultze the 

Medical Fxaminer? " A Yes, sir. 

.ifedi-cal- Assistant to the District Attorney-? A Yes, sir. 

Q --When was  that, Officer, do you know? A On the 25th 

day of February, .1918. 

MR. Mc DONAL1): That i s 

YR. LeBARBIFR: No questions. 

Jri 

BFRNA.RD A. D T C E, Police Officer, shield. 

attached to the Febond Branch—Detective Bureau, 

oaltd as a witness on behalf of the People being—first 

duly sworn testified a Thilows! 

DIRFCT DEAMINATION RY Mc DONALD: 

Q You are '.a member of the Detective Bureau of the City . 

Polio ef For° e? A YeS I sir. 

-Q -And did You arrest this defendant, A I did... 

• •• 
4 

411111111.4 



% ,11%40111111."‘W AM% 

8 

.Q, When and where' On February 24th, 1918, in font 

134 West 1,'JftY, fplArth Street  at about sixt,hirty_p; nu, 

,Later, did you have a talk with hiM? A I did; 

Q that did the defendant say? 4, Upon my questioning him 

if he k 'new that Clary had died he said, "Yes, I heard it". 

1---Said, "Did you have a fight with him on January 28th? "' He 

said, "Yes, he struck me". I said "What did you do then? 

He says, "I 'didn't do nothing atvall". I sai d, "Did you stab 

him?" 11,43.e. said, "No, I didn't"., Then I searched the defendant 

and found a knife in his riz.b.g. Pcicket, Which I took put. I asked - 
t 

'this your knife?" He said, "Yes". I said, "How long him,.
 VI 

have you got that, knife in your possession?" He said, "Right 

along". I said, "You Mean you had it -for some tiine?" said, 

"Yes". 
0.1.1.1.0.0.1%. 

I said, "Did you carry that knife on January 28th, 

1918, when you had a  fight?" He said, "Yes". 

Q. At that time; )pere You showing him this People's Exhibit 

No: 1, 'A Yes, I had taken the knife out already When 

ehovved it: to him. 

Q, 

or.Fox. 

`.1,111At is the knife, is it ehanding witness People' s t 

No. I) A : Yes my partner marked it for identification with 

the' letter "N". That is the knife, yes, 
Fiff 

Q, Tell Tell 'us what else happened') A I made White, Who waB 

present the time repeat what had taken, place on January 

.28th, and I  said to him, . "What have you got to say?" I say a. 

"Did you have the knife in your hand? Did you open the knife?" 

• 

0,4 



And he opened the -knife. "Did you 

didn't stab h4 

but I couldn't catch him, because before  I had ,a Chance. 

to use the knife a:police officer intercepted Ma and brought 

me back; -I t stab hlin at all". 

Did you have any further conversation with him? 

M1. ltcD0NALD; That is all. 

,MR. LeBARBIFR: No questions. 

CL AR Y, called ass witness on behalf 

of the People being first duly sworn, testified as follows: ' 

DIRECT FXAMINATION BY MR. '11ficDONALD: 

Q, Where do you lived' A 102 West Fifty-fourth Street: 

Q, Where were you living on he 28th day of January, 1918? 

, 
214 Twenty-ninth Street. 

Lift your voice up, please? A 214 TWenty-ninth Street. 

Q Fast, or. wept? A West. 

Were you in 'your home- that night? A No, 

Q Did you se your broherat your home that night? A 

" Q, Did you see your brotherafter• the 28th of January?' A 
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Q, What hospital? A Bellevue Hospital. 

Q Do you know when that was .that the officer came there? 

A Not exactly; I taken sick during the time; not exactly.. 

Q, About when? A It was about Six or seven day's afterwards,. 

I' guei3s. 

Q, Did you 'see him again after that? A Yes, sir, .. 
PP 

Q.; Where.? A ne Hundred and Thirty-third Street, 'an 

undertaker's, No. 4. _ - 

Q, You mean you saw his dead body afterwards? A. Yes sir, 

Q, Do you know where William worked? - A Pia's, C. P. 

Pi el 

Q Did you work for C. F. Piel at one time,  too? A At 

.that time I was not. workinft 

Q. At what time? A I left a week before this occurred. 

Q, Up to a week before the 28th of january, you worked 

with Pie13 did you? A Yes, sir.. 

Q And your brother worked with Pie'? too? A Yes, he 

continued. 

Q, 

_ 

And he was known as William Clary? A Yes, sir. 

WI. MCDONALD: That is all. 

R. LeBARBIFIR: No questions. 

R. MCDONALD: The People rest, with the exception 
„ 

of putting in the two doctors if I may' be-, permitted. 

" COUln:: • They ar-s- very irnportant'witnesees. When 

will' they be• here? 

McDONALD: - I expect Dr. Sevier any minute, an 
7rt4* 

A 

-op 
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, Dr. Petiska. is a practicing surgeon, and he couldn't 

possibly get hereT7lie is in tire midst of an operation 

thie morning-- until two 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. IseBarbier, the People say 

,they rest except for the medical testimony. You. m 

reserve any motion-6 Until after they have rested entir 

Of course, -as-.CO any medical features of the case, you 

better reserve thats,,,ikii,til.,alf-t+ertheir medical testimonY. 

is here. 
- 

Y 0 UN G Q U IS T, called as a, witness 

on behalf of the defendant, being first duly Sworn, test17. 

fied as foilO-We: 

DIRECT. EXAMINATION BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q, Where do u 'live? A234.2 East Sixty-fourth Street, 

lark City. 

I have been, an ash-handler as well,. 

Q What? A I itm a' chauffeur by profeseion.• 
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wii4t. were ytidoiig. n •TanUai,`', • 1.),e. Wants 

g pardon? 

Q Re wants to know what you were doing last Ja.nuary?, A Oh, 

I Was a ...helper. 

BY ME. Le.B.ARBIBB:•  

• 

Q Where? A For Piel Contracting CompanY. 

Q Do you recall the incideni of the night of the fight 

with Clary and the defend,ant,?-' • , s sir • 

Q We're you present at that time? A Yes, ,sir. 

P ir 'Please state to the Court aad jury what you saw? A Wei 

e had a few words about who wae going to finish ibading 

' *Q Speak ,outl, A We had a few wordsabout whq was going 

to finish loading this truck what we Were loading at the ,time, • 

and this ,fellow, this colored man 

Q Clary. A He came and he wanted us to go and start 

ioading another truck, over in Thirty-second Street,, and we 

said nolwe will finish loading this truck what we are loading 

now, it will only take a few minutes, and then we Would go 

Didn't have very much to say about one thing or, 

they other, at, last trii and' another man by the name of Joe, 

- I couldn't mention his last name, -ready_ to start off. 

Mik e May  1 he got hi s overcoat on hi s arm, on hi s left arm, 

and turned around to walk away, and Bill; he jump'ed on hi s 

over there. 

bacci and started•punching hit on the right and left side from 

the  back, started punching his face from  the right ' and left . 
.„ ....„ • ...• •• 

and he got him doWn o 01.1 a, hands and knees,, a d '13.e•e" ...... 
• 

, r 

v•••1 * ""." 



, 

Sullivan,he pulled 1VIike Mayo off. He pulled Rill 

-Mike Man s back and Bill s arted.;off towards Broadway. Mike 

got up on his  feet and turned around and he started off after , 

Q, Did yo.u: see where tb.ey went? A (No anewer). 

--, Di-d- you see where they went? A They went towards' 

Broadway: 

Q, Were they running? A We were working east of • 

Broadway, at the Hotel fi.artinique, and 'Broadway and Sixth 

Avenue is to the west. of the Hotel'Martinique. 

Q,- How far did y.ou see Bill Clary run away? A As far as 

-proadway. 

Q, Did. you ES e e him cross tile tracks? A T Erserrhim going 

across Broadway. 

Q "Across the tracks? A Across the -car tracks. 

Q, Across the car tracks? .A ,Yes,sir. 

1 Q, Now, at that time • did you see the defendant, Mike 7. 
' 

where was Mike? A Mike was,. 4ttle distance -behind 

him. 

Q, How -mupb. b ehina do you say?, A Well, about the 

length of,„,.,this. court,..4.6.om.here. 

Q, Well, very mintir,1* behind him, is that right'? Many 

feet behind him? A. Yes, more than that. 

R. DoNALD: "Many feet " he said.'" 

Q• Fifty feei,, about? A It cduid be a•round 

Q Sir? A Arourid forty. feet. 

- 

Pe4 

r 

• 

febt. ' 
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Q, When • you 'say the length of this court room, you don t 

,know the lerigth Of, this court t*oom, do you? A What is that? 

' Q, When you say the 1,4' 10,:q"this court room, -do you 

know the length , of ,the c our ti-elie'b °M.? A '141) y sir. 

: ................ — ,,, .......... . ............ 
Y-04 -do ay--it was e Around- that 

Mike was behind Clary; is that right? A Yes.' 

Q, How long had you 'been working with the Pi el paople? 

'A Since last Thanksgiving, up to that time. 

Q, With whom are you working now? 

in  Company. 

A For the .0mpire Cart-

Q, Did the defendant vtork with you? A , At 'the time We 

'were working mostly together. 

Q, Do you know what his reputation was for a ,quiet and 

peaceable fellow? A Well, the quarrel was on account 

of this  s . 

Q, Is the defendant .a quiet, peaceful fellow) A No, sir. , 

9, Is he quiet End peaceful', or dopes 'he ,.fight? • A 111o, he 

is very:quiet. - 

Q, Just listen, and don't shake your head, because ,,ou 

will give me Ei• terrible' answer if you do. Now, did you under-

stand what cr asked you .whether the defendant wasi a fellow Of 

peaceful., quiet habits, or does he Tigh-1*' was fouzd 

him quiet., 

Q, Working vvell doing _hie work o) A Alwa,y s' doing his work. 

MR. LeBaBI.kili: Your witness,. 

#' 

p 

, 

. , 

• 

a 

• 

a 



cRo ss- Ix/MN:al ON BY MR, Mb DONAL 
-Just tell us where you  were when. Clary tarte to run 

A I di dn 

Q Where were ,yot,1 when .Ciary started tO run? Right 

alongside the truck What we were loading. 

Q And the truck was where? A Standing right ailtside 

the Hotel  Martinique. 
r , 

Q Arid the place where the truck 'Was standing was how far 

A Well, pretty :near half of an ordinary block 

Q Now, then, did you run °after Mayo? A No. 

Q, You remained -right at the wagon? qtaYed right 

where Iwas. 

Q At the truck? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did any of the fellows that were working with you 

there ri.n after .Mayo? A I didn't see any one r fter 

You didn't see anybody running? A No sir. 

rasn't Wthite working there that day, or that nigh 

White,' A Yes. 

Q Wasn't Martin working there? A Yes, sir. 

Q And Sullivan? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did y ou see any of those men running towards the corner? 

A No, 1 didn't see any of them run.. 

Q Did you see the 'defendant open hi .s knife? A I dian't 
S. 

see him with a knife in his hand. • 
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Din' see. him with a knife in hi hand? A. o sit. 

Did you ever 'see this knife (indicating People's Achibit 

No, 1)? A I seen his knife. 

54, What? A I seen his knife several times while we ha.d 

been working together. 

Q, Is that tke knife (handing witness People's Exhibit No.1) 

A The knife I seen as an old knife. 

Q Which knife are you talking about now, the knife that 

you saw, you say, whioh. knife? A I ,always seen, hill At: 

old knife. 

,Q, ,Did yot. eV.sr—see, him wi this knife handing witness 

People's Exhibit No. 1)? A No. 

Q, You are sure about that? Take a look at it (handing wit-

ness People's Exhibit No. 1)? A (After ecamining People's Ex-,. 

hibit No. 1) Yes, this is the knife ,y6s, sir, 

Q That is the knife, is it? A Yestir; from a dis-

tance it looks new._ 
, 

r • 

No, 
Did you see him with it that night? A'/I didn't see him 

. 141,11 no knife that night. 

Did -you;, see him take • the ,,kniPe outs of his pooltet• in 

he started to run after ClarY? A No. 

Q, Di d ,C1 ary run? A I seen Mike running: 

Q Did you see Clary 'running? A Yes, I seen him running. 

Q, And how far' was he away from;Mike? A Aroutid forty feet. 

Q, lorty, feet? A Around that. 

Q, Did you lose sight of theta at any time? A I aon,°tWider 

.,10.4411/A AA 
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stand your meaning. 

Q, Well, did you - When was it that yotz couLdri't see them " 
4, 

any -More? *after- they  ciosse'd Broadway, after they )47 - 
crossed 4the oartracks, the Broadway cartracks there, then 

couldn't see where they went after that. 

Q, And the nearest you ever saw Mike, the defendant 

Clary, was how many feet, the nearest that you ever saw the  

defendant to Clary? A That was around forty feet. 

- Q Porty feet? A Around forty. feet, the nearest, from 

the time. that ,Mike got. up -his feet A 
, •••••• 

Q, Did Clary start to run to were you going to say something 

then? 

• THE COURT: No, he was through. 

Q What did Mike do'? At, least, what did Clary do when 

Mike Mayo got up, as you say, from the ground? 4A When Mike 

got .up off his fee :t - 'got tp on his feet, Joe - Bill, rather, 

this Colored man, he. wal!ked cross in front of the truck, 

across the street, an. started off down in the middle of the, 

stieet. 

-13txt., Mayo hadn't done anything, he was going- aft er hi 

he di dn' t ptillknife out on him, did h that time? A I 

didn't t see him with a knife. 

Q, Well, if he did you would have seen it, wouldn't you? 

A I would have seen the knife. 

Qr 

) 

Now, Clary didn't .start runnin-g- then,. did he, as soon 
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the middle 

go of'M d he run 

let .gà of Mayo, he started off out tOwards 

the  street aid, started off and only got a couple 

of 'feet army when he started running. 

Q I see. Now, then, did you see Mayo with anything in 

his hand at that time? A No. 

Q, 3rou say that Clary came from behind and struck 

Mayo-.—from behioid? A Yes, sir. 

..that is right, is, it? A Yes, sir. 

Q, He didn't 'get infront of Mayo 'and Punch him in the 

nose, did he" A. No. From behind. 

Q From behind? A Yes, sirv, 
• 

Q, Did you see Mayo's nose bleeding that night? 

Q, When was that? A When he came back. 

Q Did you see it before he started' running a.fter Clary? 

A No, he had his back towards me; he-faad his back towards me 

When he got up 1bn 'hi s feet; I di dn' t see his face. 

Q Where do' you work now? A .Empir,e 'Carting CompanY. 

Q, When Clary•came up from the basement, what was it he 

said? A He said, ILY.o.u. fellOws,"" that means us that was 

loading this truck. 

Q That is, you 

by 'the name' 9f' Joe; his last naMe I :don t, know. " 

and Mayo? A Me, Mayo and another man.7' 

Q, Guilfoil? A I couldn't tell his last name 

Q He is a white mr?A Yes, a white man; there were 

white men loading, me, Mike and this Joe. 

41•0 
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• Q• What did h say?, Bill tld'i to go, over with" 

the other truck  over to Thirty-second Street load that. 

Q Did he want you to sWitch j.obsl what you were doing? 

Yes, wanted us to leave thia truck •and go .over with the other 

.one and load that one, in Thirty-second Street. We didnut 

agree to  that. We wanted to finish loading this "trudk what 

we were loading. 

Q, Why did you want to finish this truck that .you were 

loading'? Y0.1.1 were .not paid for the loads that you loaded, 

were you? A NQ we got -paid by the night, but we didn't see 

;the idea of  loading one truck - or pretty near loading' one 

truck and then when there is only a few c.an4„,left, they come 

up and take our plkOzs',-and finish loading this one, and we 

was to go and start on an empty one. 

Q, It is not that you wanted to fin i sh the j oh tha .y OU 

were on, is it? A Exactly. 

Q You wanted to finish the job that you were on? A Yes,,, 

4; 13ather tb.an go into another new job? A Yes, that was 
..;t• 

-our 'work. 

Q, cltrho were the fellow ei you were afraid were 6bing to ta1c.6 

your end- of it at that time, who, were the fellow that were 

coming to relieve you, that you thought  were going to-,readeve,,,......,,. 

you on that last load? A That was not the last lo'ad, ,t;f:. ,. 
i ..,. 

Q, The' last load you had2there before tke fight? 44: Yes, 

that was the last load we had in, the Rotel Martinique. 
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Who, were 

up that last two 

777: 

• to take 
the fellows, t at  Glary told/Your job of loadang 

Say,--who told him. 

'Q, Sullivan Was there, wasn't he? A Sullivan was 

Q And Waite? A Y„es 

Q, Martin? A Yes sir. 

there. 

Q. What happened then when Clary said he wanted you fellows 

to go over there to Park Avenue and load up the other truck? 

A We stayed there, and we said,

• Q What? A We stayed there where we were. The cans were 

on the sidewalk. We stayed. there, and we said, "No, we will fin-

ish loading, this t'rstick.".: 

Q Is that all ,ydu‘ said, just 

the, truCk what' we" sre, 

A Yes, "We will finish 

Who said that? A Mike Mayo it; 

Who? A Mike. 

Q, The defendant? A Yes, sir, he said, "We •will finish 

here what we are doing". 

Q What you say? A I didn't say nothing, because 

I took everything in what was going on. 

And t4WWhat did Clary 'say? ,A He mentioned something 

about telephoning .to-the foreman, . or 'something like that, and 

4he Went away, arid come, baok again, and. he said., "If yotz don't . 

go over to' the other traok arid load it you' can g-o—homei!.., 

-Q tell, What did. you. say' You iit141said.,nothing? 
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Per sonallY 

4. 

didn't 'say nothing, and the other White in 01 

Jo he didn t say nothing, and Mike be says, 'Well, ve 

will finish loading the truck, and we will 'go home,lor will 

go home", whatever it was. 

Q Well? A Well, we stayed there for another minute 

or two. 

Q Did you finish loading the truck', A No, we didn't 

finish it before this happened, We stayed there fora minute or 

two, and then nice „picked up his overcoat, slung it on his left 

arm, and turned around and was going to walk away, walked over 

towards Fifth Avenue. 

Ysso' A When Bill jumped on his back and started 

punching him right and leftfrom the .back. 

Q Prom the back? A Yes, and whether he tripped him 

couldn't say, but Mike went down on .his hands and knees and 

that is the time that Sullivan pulled Bill off Mike's back. 

(L

 

That did Mayo do with the overcoat? Did he still have 

it on his arm when he was chasing Clary? A No, I couldn't 

say whether he dropped it when he was down, or whether he still 

had it on his arm, I couldn't say. 

No, 

Did he have it onchis arm when he was chaSing Clary? 

<ix!-

Q You waited th‘ie until the officer brought him back,' 

you waited until the officer 'brought him back, didn't  

'A 

. Q .40 ad 121i*;Ingh4..m"back, diclet he? A.'1 &lots t that

, 

• • 

. , 

" .4:,0 



wafted theke until the otficer brought 

Thim. back to the truck in front of the Hotel Martinique? 

arm when he came buck, when he came back to • the- truck. 

Q Did you work  there all night then? A Y s °L4r. 

Q, Weren't you going home? A No, we did& t' go home. 

Q, Weren't you told to quit your obA No, we quit the 

job in the morning, finishing up work. 

Q And didn't Clary say, "If you. don' t load that truck 

A He was riot the fo-reman, so we couldn' t 

take his word or his orders for that. 

, . 
the defendant had his coat on hi s. arm, ready to go home? > 

A. Yee, but we couldn't take his word for that. The foreman 

came,. own,, and he didn't send us home. 

MR. LeBARBIEB:- All right; that is all. 
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M A N called as a wi tness on b half 

the defendant, Veins first duly 'sworn testifies as follows: 

DIRPT EXAMINATION BY MR. LeBARBIHR: , 0 

Q. 

WIat was your occupation in the month of January 

1918? A, I was night foreman 

q Night foreman of what? A Of the Ash:ContraCting 

02Mpany; C. P Piel.& Company. 

And did you know Clary, the deceased? A 'Yea, sir. 

And did you knOw-Mike Mayol the defendant? A Yes sir: 

tl Were they working for you that night? A'. Yes 2 sir*: 

Q

 

Had you given any instructions to Clary to order: 

"Wafere do you live? A. 152 West 54th Street. --------

the'f-men to go to another hotel? A No, I ha dn' t seen hip. 

that night. 

-ct Well, it;hs. beellt Stifled to hers by some of the 

witnTeses for , the people that an order was given by Clary 

• by ,the‘men should go to another Hotel. Had you given any 

such orders that night?- A No, I hadn't given any orders. 

If the orders were given I would -give the, orders Myself, and 1 

would follow the men up. 

Q And you were the boss . Of tha t job that night? 

Yes, but I wasn't ' there at the  0.711e • 

9, How long, have you known Mike Mayo? A I have 

known him for about a year. Vven when he wasn't -working 

for us he was working for .he Etpire. Carting Company. 

Q DO you know what his reputation is for a peaceful 

al-



R. gcDONALD; I object to that. No 

has be en la Id. H 

Do you know .others who know him? 

Q And do you know what .his reputation is for a quiet, 

good or bad? A Well, as far as 

So far as you -have observed, it is good, is- that right? 

'Do you know his family? A Only since thi5 trouble 

occurred', his_wife pame to the office. 

You know he is married?. A 

Q,

 

And he has a number of children?. A Seven children 

he has) _she' say., two of them I have seen._ 

Q That is that? A .1 saw two of• her children. 

MTh. McDONALD: Or' course, this )is not ch.ar9,cter 



Q 

44, •4 
*se% 

• 

6 
•••:. 

MR. LeAARBIFR: Not ox the question of .character, 

but on the credibility of the witness. 

TB8 COVBT: How ddes it affect this witness's 

credibility that this man has seven children?r 

MR. LeBARBITIR: It will be for consideration with 

your Honor and the nary, because I shall certainly ask 

your Honor to charge that a man married with a family 

is not liable to begiven to acts Of this 'kin. Not 

upon the question of character. It is uppn the question 
the ' 

of.credibility that your Honor will give to the defendant 

and you will petmit the jury to c-onsider that testimony. 

TH7 COURT: I•never heard that a men's credibility 

'was-proportionate to the children he has. 

MR. LeBARBIER: Well, I would like to extablish the 
T 74. 

fact that a man with many children is apt t consider 

twice what he does. Your witness. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY NB. MoDONALD: 

you d6n.'t know anything about this? A No, I was 

not the  -at -the time it happened 

You were not there? A No. 

You mean you were not on the street? 

on the job at that time. 

BY Tam (.10URT: 

Q, 

I weren't 

You'were not down in the cellar? A NO. 

Was there any foreman.in the cellar? A There  

wasn't any foremawthere. • There was only one foreman and 

• 

t••• 
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•was myself. 

LeBARGIER:, 

: q 'Did you answer hls Honor that. you were not dow4 

in thecellar that night, you were not down in the cellar? 

A No, sir. 

MCDONALD: 

R, Why don't you keep yOur voice up so hr. heBarbier 

Canhear YOU'.1 A: Iverdn t in the cellar at that_time. 

LeBARBIER: That is. all.. 

How long,was William Clary working for Piel &. 

Company? A He was working there, I guess he worked there 

a couple of months steady while I taken charge of the foreman-

ship; he worked there longer, but he quit and came back 

,after I had taken the 'foremanship. 

Q, Did you hit the MartiniqiJthat night at all? 

down about Th;3Q 3èrthehad had this fight.0 

What time dfd you get 'there? A F4dge it was 

about twelve o'clock whet I,got down there. 

• 
0, About twelve? A Yes. 

MR. McDONALD: That is all. 
:ke-11 

JAMES 3,. DEVIN E, police officer, shield No. 
4 

4305, attached'to the sith'Precinct, called as a witness on 

•behalf of,the defendant, being first duly sworn testifies 

as follows:-

1.),IRMTZAXAMINATION BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q Are you ttahedbo the Municipal Police Fore of the 

6 
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City,.Of 11:ew, York? A Y 

Q, And." f,or how long a t, time 

officer? A Twenty" years. 

Q,• Twen ty years? A Yes , s ir. 

Q,  Do you know the defendant, Mike Mayo? A Y8s, 

Q, How long have you known him? A Around fifteen 

years. 

Q, Do you know other people who know him? A Yes,. sir. 

Q, Do you know what his reputation is for peace  and quiet? 

Very good. 

MR. LeB.ARilIER: Your witness. 

OROss EX'AbifIN AT I'ON BY !/1B. -14 cDONALD: 

Q, How do you know him, Officer? A Well :he has 

.worked for my mother for over eight years. •she is in the 

same line of business, in the contracting,businesa.: 

Q, You say this defendant worked 'for your Mother 

business? is in the same line of, business the contracting business? 

A. A Yes, sir. 

0, This ash removing? 

Q, 

yes, 

for Us. . 

Q,. When did he work for you-r Mother? A He is working„ 

for her now, up until the day of the trial, since he 

• on

 

bail. 

And is the t how you COMB to know the d t? 

sir, sir, I knew him before the t, before he aome to work 

e was not working far your mother at t 



'Come over there to call upon you? A Well, 

meet him om the streetlsometimes, run across him. 

What precinct are you attached to? A. 'sixth precinct. 

That'is where? A Elizabeth Street. 

You say that he is working now for 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q Where do you live" A 236 North Fifth Street BtoOk.e. 

am the wife of Michael -Mayo. 

Q. And doyou know othqr people who know Mike? 

Q Do you know what his- reputation is? 

He always was a good man. 



•Where did you live in January, 1918? 

What does your family consist of? 

McDPOLD! That is,Objected.t-o as immaterial. 

THE ddURT._:, 1;110, objeCtion is Sustained. 

ta1c_exiexCeptiOn. 

Did you have a talk with Sullivan in this 

Yes, sir, my husband told me that he was--

I object to What -her husband told 

have any talk with sulli No, sir. 

Did you have any talk with White in 6lis case? 

Yes sir, he asked me if I'was Mike 4ay6's wife, up ,in 

Ile office, Pielts office. 
- 

And what was said? State the conversation? 

4'CDONALD: 'I-objedt to this, sir, unless 
White 

TH'7,1 COURT: Did you ask Ilex if"he had had a talk with 

MR. LeBARBIER:. -I think 

I asked her if that was all that happened. 

directed his attention to ststemonts and asked Aim if 

MR. LeaVUUTEMR: ,It ma .13,e possible -that techni-oally. 



did not lay. that foilndation. I am 'ncit prepared t 

:T qOIJRT: Well, I Will allow you to recall 

couAT: Yes, wbich ever you prefer. -
A.,. 4 . 4 ,. 

• 
MR4 LeBARBIRR: Then,, I will ask this witness.. 

Please state/,,then, your conversation with White? 

•TO COURT: No,you pan(t go oh with that, because 

- 
DIT1EC43/1INATION (Continupd) BY. MR. LeBARBIER: 

,yOu°,0aw White on the stand just now, didn 



that the man 'you 'held a  talk with? A Yes, ri 

And did you "talk about this ease?' A gd asked 3114 

I was Mike Mayo's wife. I never knew the /ma, and I ans.* 

wered "yes, I am Mike May-off; wife". I asked hita if he was 

against my husband, and he said -- he told me that he wasn 

against my husba(nd. 

case? 

Q . Did he say that he didn't know anything about the 

MR. McDONALD: I object to that as being suggestive. 

THE COURT: 

Very well, proceed? A I asked hit did he See about 

the case. He.saYs he wasn't against 'my husband at all, and . 

while I was walking down the Street going home, he stopped me 

.again,t ailed me back, and asked me- and I asked him did he 

know anything .about it, and he answered me' that he wasn't 

- against my •',husband at all. After4that Norman'S wife passed,--. 

THE COURT: 

witness. 

MP. McDONALD: 

yes, let her tell what' he. did say. 

Well, that does not contradict the last 

Q Did he say anythingt else? A That is all I remember 

Do you know the foreman's wife? A yes, sir. 

Was she there at the time? A While I was talking to 

,White she passed, and she asked him did he know—anything .ab out 
• 

it, and he answered her that it was not my husband's faual 

that he wasn't against my husband, and there is the women 

right there (indicating) 



Rut he. &a d it. was n 

Yes, sir. 

• MR. Le4ARIBER: -AU right. • Your witness,  

MR. McDONALD:, Tha t is all, Madam. 
caned 

I, 0 M N A N0TARPRANES C*0;. ir'‘ as •a .witness 

on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn testifies 

.yoUr husiatind's fault? 

as follows: -

DIRECT EXAMINA.TrON BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q, Where dc you live? A 644 East 17th street. 

Are you the sister of the last witness? A yes, sir. Q, 

Q, Do you know Mike Mayo? A yes, sir. 

Q: Have youmknown him a number of years? A Yes, sir, 

Q, Do you know other people who now him? A Well, I ' 

know plenty, but they aint here. 

Do you know what his reputation is for peace and ,quiet? 

,Very good. 

MR. LeBARBIBR: Your witness... 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MoDONALD: 

You are a •sister-in law of Mayo's? A Yes sir. 

117(. -"DficDONALD: That is .all. Thank you Madam, 

SAVARO NO TAR PRANCESC 0, called as a witness 
0. • 

on behalf of the defendant being first duly sworn testifies 

as follows: -

DIRECT IMAMIN AT ION BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Where do you live? 'A 644 East 17th Street. 

•••••1 



What A I am a staple than 

the street Cj.eaning Department. 

How long have you been a. stable man? A About 

thirteen years. . 

Q, And you have always worked with the street Cleaning 

Department? A Yes sir; been in the oitreet Cleaning De-,. 

partment going on twenty-two years. 
alb 

0, ,And, the last mown was your wife? A yes; sir. 

te Do you 'know .Mike Mayo, the defendant? A YP.s, sir. -

Q, • And have you known him for a number of ye,ars? ,A 

know Mike Mayo for 16 years. 

Q., And do you know other people who know him? A Yes. 

Q. • D you knoW what his reputation iS as d, quiet 

man? A r good; quiet man. 

MR. LaBARBIER: Your witness. 

MR. McDONALD: . That is al1.. 

(21E H T R U DE C 0 I, EM A N, called as a 'witness on behalf 

of the 'defendant, being first duly swOrn testifies as follows  

DIRECT .TIDCAPIDTATION BY a. LeBARBIERt 

Q,  Where do you live? A 15.2 West 54th. Street.. 

You are a , married woman? 

And who is your husge'''' 

The witnOs 

:Yes .8 ir 

As the forem&nwith Piel on that job? A • Y.4.s sir. 

I am. 

Nor.man Coleman. 
=kr-• 

who was on the stand a 2..ttle, whileYagO?  



you present at a, conversation that Mrs. Mayo 

bad with a man named White? A I came up, during their cont.. 

ere was 

4 

conversation -that she had with Willte that 

TH1 COURT: Well, I will allow it. 

Please s,tate what you heard? A Mrs. Mayo wa 

taking with the man Whitey, whom I had never known before,‘ and  

I came up,, and she had been to my house before, and I asked her 

if everything had been seen to that she was there for, and she 

said "yes"; and they started to tell me about Whitey accosting 

her and telling her--

T1IJ COURT: Never. mind what she told yolVibout it. 

I object to this testimony. 

THE. COURT: • The objection is Sustained. 

Tqr, CO1JRT She started to say what Mrs.. Mayo 

PleaSe state what was said while Wilite was t 



o so quick? AWhite.said that Mike Mayo wan 

and I said "Is that so?" He said "yes" I said 

'Was' you there at the time it happened?'1- •He 'paid Yee; and 

that was all that was said. 

MR. LeBARBIER: Your,witness. 

CROSS EXAMINATIbN-BY McDONALD: 

Q Is that all thilt she,ea,id? A That is all that she 

- paid while_ wapjhee'I''' 

• Was anything said about the.death of Cla 

'Nothing was said about the.44eath of Clary. 

Q, 

.malava W NAVAL... 

What'? A Nothing was said about the death of Clary. 

Did you understand what they were talking about? 

I did, yes. 

QJ 

- about? A 

That it was the death of Clary they were talking 

Yes., I understood it was that. 

Q, Mrs. Mayo -had aIready seen you, though, had she? 

,he had been to.th office to see Mr. Pie]., that was all. 

Q Did she come to wee you? A . she'aidn't come to Be  , 

me. I simply called Mr. Piel to pee her and the offiders at 

the. house. 

Wete'you'working for M. Pie].? A No, I was 

simply taking telephone messages for him at-the_house. 

0..And Mrs. Mayo camem.ther'e?' A she came there to see 

• • Mr. Pie to collect Mike's pay. 

Q. And what did you do? Tad you call,out.Mr. Pie].? 

a 



I called Mr. Piel twask if he would see her, .11.1d 

called the ,office, called Mm. Mayo in the loffioe, 

Q• What else happened? A Nothing else'at that time. 

Then did you follow Mrs.. Mayo out? A No, I had 

been to the store, and on my way back Ihet her On her way 

out, and she was ttalkitg- toAAAitey. 

A And you remained and listened to the conversation? 

I simply asked her if she had seen Mr. Pie', and was 
' 

everything all right and she said yes. Then he started 

talk7. 

Q what-was it he said? A He said he had been there 

that Mike wasn't in fault, •that he was there at the time he 

•made that statement. I said "Is that sO?" He •said "yes". 

Q And that is all he said? A That is ail he said, 

led I passed on. 

q I beg your pardon? A That is all he said, and ' 

passed on. 

MODONALD: That is all. 

LeBARBIER: We have reached tile point now 

your Honor-, where an about to offer'the defendant, but 
_ 

before doing so I would respectfully request -a ruling 

upon certain motions I kaxx think should come before 

. your Honor for decisiOn. 

MR. McDONALD.: I have One doctor here, sir. 

TH:1-11 (1.6R17: , Well, put on the one doctor that you -

have. 



AR .EDWIN SERVI called as a 

w'itness on behalf of the people being first dlaY sworn, 

tified as follows:-

DMECT MAKINATION.BY MR. McDOWALD: 

Where do you liVe? A Eight West 16t reet. , 

Q. You ate a physician, licended to practice medicine: 

in.the'City and state of New York? A I have no state board. 

license, no  sir. I alTan interne in a hospital. 

You have passed your medical examinations? 

'Yes, sir. 

Q A graduate of what college? A Johns-Hopkins Medical 

School. 

And when.did you graduate? A 1916. 

And you are now atbached to the New York ospital? 

Yes sir. 

Q And how long have you beemso att.ached? A since 

November 1st, 1917. 

As a result of a telephone ôall, did you visit the 

'premisea, '214 Vest 29th Street,on the, 28th day of January, 

19lEM A I' did. 

(7), .fivid, did you Bee anybody there?,. A. I aw 

I saw a patient. 

Q knd was he a Colored man? A A colored man. 

Q Did you find out his name? I donitrecall the 

details. The officer recalled it t9 me' as I cane in. 

OM OR yes'i I did, 



•mean 'have notes of it -lout don t recall the details. 

Q '7,121e are Y-oUr'lletes? -A AM the Wide.-

Q At the hospital? the hospital. 
y 

Q

 

Did you treat anybody there at this kaAdress fo any 

.thing? A Yes, sir. 

Q What did you treat -- was he a" colored man? A yes, 

Q :What did you treat this colored -man for? A my notes 

,state a stab Wound of chest. 

q :What? A A sta1J'-wound of the chest. 

Q Chest? A sir. I have on my notes stab 

wound of chest. 

Is that all that you remember about it? A That is 

• 
an that I remember. 

_ 
Do you know what yert of the chest it was? .A Between-. 

no, I co ldn't recall; I don't remember. 

Do your notes state? A They do not. 

Q Have you got any recoflection of where this -wound 

was? It was on one side Of the chest; I don't remeber that; 

it was somewhere between the ribs, as I remember. 

MR. LeBARBIEP: Indiaating the left side. 

Q 

THP TITNEss: I don't rememE-er which side it was. 

You indicated the left side, aceording to Mr. 

LeB rbier. Did you Mean anything by that? A Not -a thing. 

(I Do you know witlich side it was on? I don't 

rememberk 



via 

DC, 

Did ,yoU take :this patient to the,...h,Ospitel? 
4: 74 

I treated him arid  left him; "-
.* 

Q, Do.you know what. you ,did for him? 

applied simply some iodine and a pl,aster over it. 

Q, Some iodine and what? A A plaster over a. 

adhesive plaster. 

MR. McDONALDI. That is ,a 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY 21.1:R. LeBARBIER; 

I think I 

Q' And whatever you did' do was successful? The wotaid 

healed,. didn't it? A I don't know. 

Don't you recall that the wound healed? A' - I saw the - 

- .119-ti3Ont Only once .,..T, 44,00epl: while T.:APIs there no. 

That is th4 only time I have seen the patient. 

What is Empyem a?, A EM15-Yeima i 1 a -- forma t ion of pUs. 

withirv the cavity of the lung, the covering of the lung.. 

Does that word and definition recall anything to your 

Of my connection with thisL,case2 

'In regard to this case? A None.whatever. 

Is a cavity of—the lung a- cavity of the pleyral sac? 

1Tot necessarily. 

Can they not be altogether separate and distinc t? 
rie.0 

Yes, they can. 

MR. LeBARRIER: That is all. 

• RE DIRECT ICCAMIN ATION BY 111R. •McD0iTALlj:'. ''' ''''''''' 

.Q Can what be altogether Beparate and distinct? 

A .A cav:),,tf.the lung'and Pfthe pleural saoll They ars two 



Could Y uhave a 4•WD- Wound of the pleUralsSo and 

else—through the lung? You .could have that? A Of course, 

ou could. 

q A s tab wound?"  A —Yes, s ir. 

QI What is the pleura sae? A The pleuralsao is the 
0 

covering of the lung and the covering of the chest wall, the 

interior of the chest wall, the space between is the pleural 

In other words, in order to reach the lung with a 

stab wound with any sharpinstrument, you would have to 86 

through the pleural, sac? A In this vicinity you would yes. 

At the side, a stab at the side? A lee, 

ITCP.. ONALD : The t is all. 

TIN COURT! Is your motion directed to the medical 

' side of the case? If it is I think you better 'reserve 

it until after the doctors have testified. 

MR. LeBARBIHR! The point I desire 4'to raise, -- the „ 

testimony as suggested by the learned assistant goes to 

the point that I desire to raise. 

'THE COURT:' 1 say, why can! t you reserve your motion 

until he testifies? 

LeBARBIBR: Because, in my opinion, I think the 

motion' is ,of sufficient .11ntpOrance to be passed upon  

before the defen3 ant be .called upon to make any explana.. 
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'tion. Iibther,•WOrds, I shall Make at least two motions, 

your Honor. One  will be under the case of the people 

against Dumas, 106 New York;- --------- bWill be. under, the °Elise 

of the people agairt t King, 213 New.„ York, and at the pre-
, . 

sent time I should like to set forth specifically 'in words 

the actual motion that I shall present to your Honor. 

THJ•(!OTJ-13.T: understand, but why can't you'make 

that motion after the defendant has taken the stand? - 

How does his testimony affect the medical aspect' of the 

case. / 
If there j.s any good reason he-iihOuld not; •I will 

adj ourn :now until two 6'c1ock.-

LeBARBI:1-12: I don't `like to ask for  

men t if I ca n help it. Jus t one moment. We him 

ybur 

4,0 

.1/1 ICHA L .MAY 0, the defendant herein, called as a 

witness in his own behalf, being first duly sworn, testified' 

as follows: - 

DIREC1 MAM/NAT/ON.-B:Y.MR. LeBAR' 

How, old are you? ' A Thirty-nine. 

Q, Married? /A Married seven children. 

Q, What? A Seven children. 

Q Where do you live? A -'236 North Fifth street, Brook-

lyn. 

Qi . . And wha t. is your °coupe ti on? A - Drive a trucki,- . 
,..„,. „„,,..„...„ 

., 
A,..: or  whom? A ,'', I' have been driving. -for'1,11”. Piel,.. • ' 

6411. 

• 

- 



a. 
and I have been driving. for MX'. Devine for about seven Years; 

drive for the Empire three and one. half years or four. 

Thb Empire -Ttucking—abimpanyit A Yes, sir. 

- So that you have been busy r5.ght along for a nutter 

. of years have -you? A . Yes  sir. 

Q Do you recall this night in January? A 30th of 

January? 

q yes, when -you and Prank Clary had some kind Of 

trouble? A yes, sir. 

•Q William Clary? A Yea ir. 

0, About what, time of the day was it? A- I couldn't tell 

you the time.' It was probably about twelve or half past' 

twelve, something like that. 

Q, Don't -talk too quickly? A I couldn't tell,you the 

time see. 

Q Don't talk tOo quickly,. Mike, and state to the, Court* 

and to this jury what took place. that night? A We were in 

front of-the Martinique Hotel, loading -up .a truck, and we 

were pretty re arly finished; four men were together loading 

. one truck; we were nearly finished; and the other gang sitting 

down, so Clary come along ahd tOld the gang we should go to 

aa other hotel, to load another truck, see? 'At last theY 

come to me. I aaid"No, we do our work; you do yOur Own 

work; we load two trucks; this is the .second "truck we loaded;. 

you go ahead and when we are through we will help .you". We 

• 

• 



a 

14:6 

had our awn route., and they ,had their route. He said "If 

you. don't Want to  go, go home". I said 'no, I will tell yo 

Mr.* Clary, you can't send me home', it is up to 16r. Normanic 

the foreman, when he comes down from his office and sends me 

home, I will go.";  sofhe sbood there a while. We Ivere pretty. 

near through with the truck. 1. Put tke coat on my arm and 

walked over to the other truck, so'he come back and hit me 

both sides of the face and kicked me, and I fall down,, and 

still kicking me', and, Sullivan got hold of him and took hit 

off me, so when I got off the ground he was- running, he was 

nearly .a block away. I was over on the corner of the 

Martinique Hotel and he was over towards Broadway. started 

running after him., 

police. officer. 

I wanted to get him locked up. I saw a 

Why id you run after him? A I wanted td get him 

locked up, if he hit me for nothing, 

-Fdr having beaten you? A ' Yes, 8,4. 

.Q. That wasyour object in running after him?. 

A Yea, sir, I wanted to get him locked up. I went aa-P.far 

as the corner. I met .a police officer. He. asked me where 

was going. I said "I run after that fellow; he smashed 

my face for nothing at all", and the police Officersaid to 

come with him, and he brought me. baok, and he wanted the 

other fellows to explain it, and they wouldn't say nothing. 

The police officer said "you wash your noSe and :back 
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will take , your orders; I, will d 

washed my face and went back' to work, and I didn't see 

Clary, any more that night; so 'S still worked until the 22nd; 

of rebrUarY. 

Q How' long 'did you wetrk? A I worked for gr. piel 

about thtee konths. After it. happened rworked abolli a 

month. 

Q., And did you hear anything',from :this man in the-mean-

w4ile? A No, I didn't see him at all; I didn't hear 

nothing. 

Q It has been testified to here that you opened a 

knife and ran after him? A I didn't open my knife. I run 

after him to get him locked up, because ,he smashed my nose. 

My nose is broken yet.- He hit me for nothing, p0 I run to 

call an officer, to get, _him-locked up. 

Q Sullivan Says he saw you take out a knife and stab _ 

Clary. Now, did you do that? A No4, sir. When the cop . 

brought me back he asked pp if 1" had ,a Icnife. ' I said "1 got‘ 

a,knife in my pocket. I didn't use it,: I diem' t take ie out 

at all". So I took it out and I had my hands full of ID.1.00g. 

Q, And you showed him the knife? A And I took the k- nif 

knife . out of my pocket: 

Q you showed him the kinfe2 A I showed, the officer 

the knife. . He seen,.the knife 

,Hput it irt:your 

i 

' 

rid he gave it back and said 



(.; 

kid you went ba& to work? A Yes, and I worked 

until the 22nd of January, the same place. 

You worked until you were arrested? A 1 worked 

until I was arrested yes worked there all the time, 'never 

quit. 

MR. LeBARBINR: Your witness. 

----- COS.Trow BY KR. VcDON.ALD: 
Vrimummftorterms;w7r... 

Q, Have you seen Clary s inc e that night? 

seen him any more s in as. 

Never 

, 

Q Weren't you curious to find out why he didn't come' 

back to work? A No, beCause I don't care if he comes o 

work orpQt, because' I don't bind anybody's business, only iv 

own. He run away ' that nigh.t. I didn't see him anymore, 

and I didn" t care for him, didn' t- ask for him. 

What? 

0 Didn't even ask for him? A. I didri"t even ask for 

him no. I mind my. business... 

LeBARBIER: Just answer the ques tions. Don' t 

- give us a half" hour talk. 

MR. McDONALD: I don't mind it. 

Q,4 Didn't over  ask for-him? A 

You say yoU didn't pull your knife out at 

•No, didn' t pull my knife out a1l. I run after him 

get him arres ted. * 

Q 'That is all? A That is all there was to  it. . 

Q, The cop didn't stop you with the. knife in your hand, 

%No* 
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d he When he stopped me I didn t have no knife. 

said I had it An n'Y pocket. He said •"let me see the knif 

when we got back to the Martinique Hotel. 

Q, When the  cop stopped you, you didnit have the knife in 

your hand? 'A I had it in my pocket. 

Q When the cop stopped you, did you have the knife in 

your hand? A 

Q Are you sure about that? A I am sure. 

q Do you remember makings statement up stairs in the 
1 

District Attorney's office? A I, remember, yes. 

0 Was that the same day that You were arrested/ 

A The same day I was arrested, yes sir, I made a -statement. 

Q Do you remember, saying. this to the Assistant;"as soon' 

as you got up you took this knife out of your ppcket? A' Yes, 

. sir, ,and I couldn't catch 'him". Do  you reMember that? 

A I didn't say that at'all. • They asked me when i.made a 

statement, he said "did you have a knife?" I said .".1 had a 

lk 
knife in my pocket; I run after him to get him locked up"; 

that is what I said up there. 

Q .Do you remember answering this question: And you, 

took this .knife out of your popket„ didn't you? A Yes,. and- • 

' run after him". Do you remember that? A I run after 

r * 

Clary; t had no knife( I wanted to get him locked up. 
0, -Do you remember answering this question: "q And You. 

opened it and ran after him? A Yes, agnd when I° "got on the 
corner of Broadway and sixth Avenue, you know,' Welt is near 
,there, -.there was an officer there stopped me righte.there, and 
he wee a block way, near Seventh Avenue, kept on running". 
'A 101.$4 oh running, yes, sir. 

". • 



Was- that true or false? A That was true. Tie kept on 

running. He was a block ahead of me all the time, until 

the cop stopped me. 

•Q Do you 'remember answering this question: Q. What ,did 

you open that knife for, and run. after Clary?"? A I didn't 
r . • 

open the knife at all. 

Q Do you remember being asked this question and making 

this answer: N. That did you open that 'knife for "and run 

after Clary?", and you replied, "If I catch him I will cut 

him because I was so mad, he punched me all my face and nose 

and everything, and I didn't do anything to him"; 

I didn't say if I catch him I would punch 

him; I didn't say I wanted to out him at all. I said I run 

after all right ,.I said that. 

Q, What is that? A I said I-ftin after him, but I didn't 

v41:, 

if you had caught him? A No, I didn't sa,y. that. 

• Q,. Was there a stenographer there vvheil you talked with 

the man up stairs? A No, I didn't s4y that, your flonor. 

Q, When you talked to the Dietrict Attorney, 

stenographer . there? A Yes, Edr,..he was writing.. 

Q Writing? A- Yes. 



.0 • 

BY, MR. Mc DONALD: 

'Do you remember being asked this question and •maki,ng 

tilts. reply: Wily di d you run after him with the knife?, 

A Well, I can't fight with' him". Do you -rememb er 'saying 

'that? A I di dn t say that, because I dori' t look for fight. 

I have got a big family to  support. I don't look tor any fight 

at all.-

igs? you remember being asked this question: "q. What 

were you running after him for? A Well, if I catch 

him I will hit him"; do you remember that? A I di dn t say 

that. 
ea 

..LeBARBIHR: That i's obj ected to as irrelevant, 

incompetent and immaterial. 6 

THE' COURT: Objection overruled.. 

MR. LeBARBI IR: I take an exception. 

Q, Do you emeraber saying that? A I don' t remember, 

Q Do 'you remember being asked this q'Uesti on ,atid m4ing 

this reply: • "Q. If you got him, do you mean that youwoind 

all full _was  _ 

without doing anything, and .before I got him, the officer 

stopped me . and asked me, 'Where ate, you going? and I said, 

have stabbed him?", and then you said, "Yes; if, I catch him. 

of blood and bust up and the bone is busted the 

'lamrunning after. that f e,11 ow, and- then he says to me, 

'What riVION d I *says See what he done to Me? an d he 

Says, ' There° s no use running after hi; "it' done- now; he' s 

• 



t believe me come back With me. 

and I'll let yo U explain to all them people that 'seen 

and the eop run back with me and let. me go. Beàause if 

hit the fellow and I stabbed him there was 

there holding me up, Ittesnit there?"? A I said, "Yes'", 

41-• just the last part of it? A I said this part of it 

A I said this part of it. 

LeBARBIER: Before he answers, I ask to get in 

my objection, on the ground it is incorgpetent, irrelevant 

and immaterial, on the ground that this man, was arrested, 

• he was in custody at the time and was not advised - as to 

TKO COURT: Motion denied. 

R. LeBARneR: I take an exception. Now, I make a 

motion to Strike out all the testimony that has been given, 

on those sp ecifd.c grounds, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Moti on deni ed.. 
 

R. LeBAlqI.ER: I take an exception. 

You say that, Sullivan separated you and Clary? 

Sullivan took Clary off me, and before I got 4,6ff the ground 
-fp 

I was weak arid all kicked in the side arid my face, and when t 

got up I asked him who hit me. 

Q Asked who? A. I asked all the crowd there, '.nd they 

this man down the block who ketQn running, he.,punched 

rout- BO I ran after him, ;to get him locked up. I didn11. catch. 

-him The'cop' stopped m  off on Broadway and he asked me 



where I was .going, and said I.iaanted to get that fellow' 

lodked up,, so the cop says, "He is gone nowlnio use making any 

more trouble; you gO back to work"; and he-come back with me, 

and when we got -th-ere he asked me if I had the knife; so I 

said, "Yes I have a knife in ,my pocket"; so I took it out of 

my pocket andgive it to him, and when I took it out my hand,s 

Were all blood, and blood was running like a spring and the 

knife wa,s full of blood, handle and all, I felt the blood on 

my face .it was full of blood, so he opened the knife and give 

me the knife back", ind said, "go back to work," and I never 

daw Clary since. 

Q, At the time they stopped you, the officers stopp ed you, 

did they see the knife, ,the time that they stopped you when 

you were running after' aary? A Yes ,-sir,'4"`4.' 

Q When was it they saw the knife? A The"i the knife' 

the way back t-o the Martinique Hotel. 
el" ' 

1?0' Yoifiremember telling the District Attorney, in answer 

to this question: "Q. Clary? A Yes so I run after him; 

I had that knife, and I ran after him, and then on the corner 

of Sixth Avenue and Thirty-third Street these wa,s a sergeant and 
0,4‘ 

an officer there, a cop- stopped me, see, and when they stopped, 

- me he was a block further from me, and I said, 'See that fellow 
. A 

down there he knocked'me,'down'. I was all U11 pf blood, see, 

--botb.-.44.10e of the"nos-4. So he said, 'Well, there is no use 

running after him,  let him go; he has gone'; because they seen 

. ' 

triwa+040•••••4••••• 

. 0 , 

• •  

•• 



the with the linif 'If you don't believe m 

there is, the bunch there by the truck and they will tell 

Do you remember 'saying that? A I said that, 

Did the officers see you with the knife? A NO. 

Me with, the-Ipife"? A I didn't say  that upstairs at all. 

You didn't say that  upstairs? 

Q, Did you say the other things?. A I didn't. 

Q, Yow did say, though, that he knocked you down; that 

But that part where you said, "Because they seen 

With the knife" is not true? A Not true. 

Q, Ahead of you over a block? 

SUre. When the officer •stoped me 

Seventh Avenue, still running. 

The officer came from behind, di dn' t he? ,A He, came 

from behind, yeo, sir the officer was stan-ding there in the's-

middle of the track,. 'and the crowd was still running down, 

he officer stopped 



or a block an ci a half , away. 

Q1, Had you Passed the offic A. No. 

'12 

.Q Had you gotten into Thirty-third. Street past Sixth 

Avenue. A No, the c'op stopped me off. right away. 

Q, Where? In the middle of Sixth Avenue'? A In the 

mi doe of Sixth Avenue and Broadway at Thirty-third Street 

there was two of them there, and they _stopped me. Sixth Avenue 

and BrOadway and Thirty-third Street they are nearer, so they 

• stopped me there, and' ClarY was still' running' he was nearer 

Seventh Avenue. 

Q, Was anybody else •running? A. No. 

Q, Did, you see Sullivan behind• you') 'ANo, nobody else 

moved out of the crowd; they remained there, everybody; I was _ 

the only one running after him, and when I got there the officer 

stopp ed me; I was all alone. 

Q, Di.d.,you see White running after you? A White was 

Standing with the crowd., and SUllivan Was standing with the 

crowd, over .by the Martinique 'Hotel. 

Q. They didn't follow you? A No, they didn't follAw me. 

qullivan was there, Martin was there, all the colored men and 

everybody was there. His brother wasn't there at all. 

Q What? A His brother, ;roe Clary, wasn't there at all. 

Q, J.oe Clary didn't say he was there, did he? .A I don't 

know if he sal d he was there. He wasn't' there at all. 
. and , 

Q, He •didn't Say he was there, did he? A No,/all the 

• 



Didn 

gyed there when I. run after, Clary: . 

e the ,knife in yfui 4an4 then. A No. 

Q You wouldn't Use a knife? A No, I wouldn't t use 

-Wen I got up. off the ground I run to catch him, to get him 

locked up, because when*I got Off the ground he was a block 

ahead of me; he was on the corner of Broadway. 

Q, MT' the officer take the knife out oil your pocket? 

A I gave it to him over at the Martinique Hotel, I gave it 

to him. 

Q, Do you know why he asked you if you had a knife? .A If 

I-Thha.d the knife open, he would lock me up right on the spot. 

Q Do yo u know why he asked you if you had a knife? A 

When I cOme back there, he asked me if I had a knife. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you. know whY he asked you if you ,had a knife? A He 

asked me if had a knife in my. pocket. 

Q Do you know' why' he did that? A Because White told him 

I stabb ed Clary , and the of fi c er says, "He di dn ' t stab Clary, 

_ because he didn't 'catch him; I stopped him". 

BY MR. Mc DONALb: 

Q And that is the time the officer asked yaazi to look at 

your knife? A . Yes, sir, when Whitey asked him that. 

Q Whitey told the officer in your presence that  you had 

stabbed Clary?' A Whitey told the officer •I stabbed Clary in 

,Broadway, and Clary was a mile away, because Whitey went t 



timck,in 

BY THE' COURT: • 

Q, As you were running, did you heal': anybody shout to 

Clary that you ytr,er following him? A• No. 

Q, Did anybody behind you call out to Clary that you 

were following Clary? A No nobody was after me. 

Q You don't pay attention to what I saix. Now, 

While you were running after Clary, did you hear anybbdy 

behind You call to Clary, that  you were following Clary? A N 

BY MR„-, Mc DONALD: 

Q, Did you hear anybb dy say,' "Look out, Clary"? A No. 

Q, Wasn't there any noise there at all? A No, nobody-

holl ered. 

Q Didn't they tell •Clary to beat it? A NO. Clary 

beat It himself without anybody telling him anything., 

• Q He beat It himself? A Yes, sif4 

Q After he s aw you getting up) A What? 

Q, After he saw you getting up? A He was away before 

I go t up. When I got up he was a block away from me.' . 
•••• 

And .) ou wanted to run after him then? A When I got 

off the ground I asked my partner who hit me, because 

didn't have no fight with Clary at all, and then my partner 

told mei "He Is the man down below, a block away, he is the 

one that lilt You"; sO :storied to run after, hitn 'tight away. 

Wanted to get•Cltiry locked up. 



Tell us all you said. to thd officer? 

THE. .COU1T . We. viAll t.ak e a recess now1 

the jury) Gentlemen, please do not form or express any 

• opinion as to the defendant's guilt or innooe'nee until 

the case •is finally submitted to you., Please do not 

• talk among yourselves about the case, 

to talk to you: about it, or in your presence. 

take a recess until two o'clock.. 

(The Court then accordingly took a recess until 2 o'clock 

CEOSSe-EXAMINATIORI (CONTINUHD) BY 1/TB. MCDON.ALD: 

Q. Now, did:White,- whii told the officer, that you had 

stabbed Clary, did White say anything else? A He asked the 

officer, he says, "I seen him stab ClarY,"„ so the officer

answered him --

Q. Keep your voice up. A The officer asked him, he 

said, "How could he stab Clary Clary was one block ahead, and 

he didn't have no knife in his hand to stab him”. 

Q What is that? A The officer says, "How could he 

stab Clary, when Clary was one block ahea.d of him,and he had 

no knife in his hands at all? I caught him, before he caught 

Clary. Pl. The cop says he c-atched me before I reach Clary. 

4 That was •Donaldson this officer here (i.ndicatin 



A Said that to Whitey? A. Said that to Whitey, yes', s 

Q, What did Whitey say? A He said I stabbed Clary; 

he even said sot all the time. 

Q, What? A Whitey says that I stabbed Clary, and the 

officer answered him, "No, he didn't stab Clary, because he 

didn't catch him; he di dn.' t have no knife in' hi s hands. 1' He 

said, catch ayo before he catch Clary; Clary was a block. 

ahead of Mayo". 

Q, You are sure the officer said that, ,are you? A I am 

sure: 

Q, Do you remember being asked - 

MR. McDONALD: . I am sorry, sir, to interrupt, but 

the doctor is here, and he is very:busy." 

THE COURT: Any objection- to wit ,drawing the de-

fendant whil e the doctor is .put on? 

MR. LeB.ARBUR: No, sir. 

MR. McDONALD: Thank you, sir. . 

• 

.MBYER T. C UTI sic FR,of Bellevue Hospital, 

call ed.ae a witness on behalf of the People, being first 

duly sworn, testified as follows: 

.DIRBOT ACAMINATION BY MR, McDONALD: 

Q,'" Pop:Or, you .are a physician, licensed to practice 

medicine Ththe State of New,Yorlc?' A 'Yes sir. 

Q And how long have you been licensed to practice? 

' • •••.•-•0•-•-• 

• e. 

v's 



Q You have b een a physician how long? When did you 

graduate from the mecical school? A June, 1917. 

Q, And what medical school? A, Bellevue hospital Medicalt, 

College. 

Q Do you remember a vpati ent being in Bell sync Hospital 

same time - at least, between. the 31st of January and the 

William Clary - by the name of Clary. 

How frequently did you se this William Clary? 

he was admitted, offhand? 

MR. Mc DONALD: Any obj ectio 

Q, Did you see him that day?, A 

at'the time Wtrect. 

Q. 
, 

Did, you see him thgt daY.4. A Yes. 



, 

u• examine him at any time/ A I xamined him 

ater A P-erhagie thenext:day, or the day after,. 

Can you refresh your recollection by anything from 

that chart which you have there? A Yes, sir. 

lead it over, and then just tell us what you did and 

please have it loud enough so that counsel for the defendant 

can hear. you. Did you examine him? A Not when he came in. 

Q, When did you examine him? A I examined him just the 

day aft er. 

.What did you find' hi s condition to be? A I found just' 

what the chart here says. 

Tell us that you found. A A wound - 

Keep the chart until we finish with"lou, boOtor •(habd-

ing chart' to. vdtness). A .Can I ,read it off, the chart?. 

Q, Yes. A Over the rib, just in the axillary region, 
roUnd 

at about the seventh rib, there was a/wound about, one-

quarter, of an inch in depth, with some pus, more or less d'ung-

less, the area surrounding it,, and some moist tales; that 

means the sound When you listen with the stethoscope. 

Q. Di'd you do anything that day", A No, it was just 

dresse&with a 'sterile dressing. 
.• 

Q, You say you visited him every day? A. make, the round 

every mornin'g,t, arld t the time I make the.rounds I look at the ... 

patient. It doesn't tee essarily mean that I look 'at the Wound,' 



... 
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132 

because the -wound is dressed dilly by the doctor who has charge 

of. the wards, . I make rounds and prescribe the necedsary. treat-

ments. 

Q Did you see him on the 2nd of February? A After 

that I saw him - 

Q Look at your chart? A I don' t• mak e any note at the 

time I see the patient, but I am supposed to make rounds every 

day; therefore, I probably saw him on that day. 

Q If you will lookat your chart You will see that your, 

chart says that you performed an operation on the 2nd of Feb-

ruary? A Y Ei  

Q, Tell us what operation you performed? A The opera-

tion was one for the liberation of blood in the pleural 
,a 

cavity. 

BY Tag COURT: 

Q What date was that operation? A On February 8th. 

BY- NB. Mc DON.ALD: 

Q, February 8th? A February 8th. There ma an in-

cision of the eleventh x:17b on the right side in the posterior 

mid axillary line, one atd one-half inches, of the sixIh and 

seventh ribs removed. :the pleural cavity was full of blood 

C lots. 

the skin, 

cavity was drained with a rubber tube.; ti ed to..  

' The• operation was preOeded by aspiration of the 

.right pleural cattity., obtaining the' blood. 

Q, What is that, last?. A Obtaining the blood; ,that is 

before we operate-we make sure there is necessity for, opera-

•ao. 

eft 

' 



, 
• drawn. 

tion, by aspiration with a needle 

4 You say you di d operate? A Yes,Lr. 

'`AP"^Cla 4 Q And. what -did you 'find? A Found this blood. 

Q That is not what .you 061/44.1 pus? A Well, it s hard to 

ay whether it was pus, or not. 

Q Was there a poisoning there, an infection? A There 

lora ably was. It is hard to say. I -don't think we examined 

the fluid f or any organisms, therefore there might have been 

and there might not have been. 

Q, Did you see Clary after that operation? A Daily, 

Q Do you know when he died? A On Febrwiry 23rd, accord-. 

ing tthe records. • 

cl And ,what di d he die of? A He died of acute suppur 

pleurisy. 

Q, Accute suppurative pleurisy? •A Yes, Edr. 

Q What do es that mean, in ordinary terms? 

pussy fluid in the chest. 

Q, In the  pleural sac?. A In the pavity..between the 41.1.ing . 

and .the chest wall. 

tive 

Q Is that what you call the "Pieu-ral sac?- A Yes, Ed 

MR.. 'McDONALD: That i El all.' 

CROSS-FXAMITATIOV BY ivrn. LeB ARBIER : 

• Qi Do you recall the case, Doctor? A Yes, sir. 

Do you recall th,a.Lvtrhen he was- question with. 

Do you recall 'what day he was admi,tt ecr 

, - 



y. seeing the Chart, 

Q what?. A I e4Y, by looking :at the  chart I do, 

That was when? 

1918. 

••• 

Just loc* at it? A Tanuary 31, 

CI In the morning, or in the evening? A That I can't • 

say. Ten p. m. 

Q Now, do you. recall an examination ;of the right lung? 

A At the time of his admission? 

Q, Yes, A I didn't examine him at' the time he came in. 

The doctor on the ward examines the .patients when he comes in. 

Q, Are you aware there was a little anodyne put over the 

wound on the right lung? A A little what? 

Q A little iodine? A •*Oh, yes. 

q, Do you recall whether after that that had healed up? 

A Whether the wound itself had healed? 

Q, Yes. A I don't think it was quite healed when we 

operated on him. 

Q It had healed-some time later, ad it not? A We 

errlarged it at the time we operated; I think we enlarged 
••• 

r met 

the original stab wound; that is, we went in over the site 

of the stab wound. 

Q By cutting It  'Yes,6ir. 

Q, HplAT much did. you enlarge it? A ,Ohl I should stky two. 

Inches. 

9, Do,you know what the extent of the original stab wound 

was? A :Yes, sir; one-quarter of an inch. It says here 'one-
• • 

416 

; 

, 

•141,. 



quarter of .an inch, in siZe. 

. What was. that, a slight Puncture of the lung" 

Couldn't ,say about the lung part of it. The skin is the 

part we see. We We can't see the puncture of the lung at all. 

Q You don't know whether the lung was perforated? A No, 

we can't see •the lung by looking at the patient. We see the 

puncture of the skin. 

Q, And then, as far as the lung is concerned what. observe... 

tion -have you to make in that respect? A Can't make any. 

Q Could you see that the lung was in any way affected? 

A We can't see the lung by looking at a patient. 

Q, Well, by any process that you have there? A By X-ray 

we may. 

But you' didn t do that, ditt"you? A. We did. 

Q, And did. tha,t 'show that the lung was affected? .A 

will read the X-ray report if ,you want me to. 

Q What ,is that? A I will read the report. 

Q, Does it show that the lung was affected? A I will 

read the report. I don't remember what it shoWeci. 

Just look at it., A - Do you wan t to hear it? q 

Q, Just generally. 

cavity. 

A Fluid in the right pleural 

Q The right pleural cavity; that is not the lung cavity 

is

 

It  A Weir; it is the lung cavity. There re no 

cavities in -the lung normally. 

Q. But oUtBe oX" ,normallly there can be a lung cavity" 

• 



, 

wigs. 

Q Now, then, this right lung, had it healed up? A Had 

wh.at 'healed up? 

Q, The puncture• in the lung, or where the lung was, had 

it healed up. A Oh, I couldn't say that. 

Q, What? A J couldn't say that. That can only b 

Q Determined by the Intitt autops3r? A By the autopsy 

examination. 

Q, Assume that an autopsy had been made? A Yes,sir. 

qa,vitied in their. 

Q, And it appeared from the testimony that that wound 

had healed, that there was a scar there? A Yes, sir. 

And if I understand correctly, had entirely healed,. 

that would dispose of any question about the lung, wouldn't 

it? A Well it would show  that ,it has healed, that the lung 

is healed. 

.Q, It would show that there was no danger arising from • 

the lung itself, wouldn't it? Would it not? A It Probably,-,. 

would. You can  tell. 

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, would it not? A I 'can't:. say* 

Q, You can't say? A  

can you st&e, yip on that a,ssumPtion, as slio-wn 

by the autopsy, that it had healed, and the scar was .there 

and the scar had healed, wouldn't tha.t'.d6note to your mind 

that all danger that there was no danger in so far a tli,e 



lung was concerned? , he only thin 

Q Would it. not?, A I can't say that; I can't  =Otter that., 

Q, Assume that the lung had healed and there was a scar 

on it, that would not Produce any suppuration in the pleural 

cavity, would it because of it -having been healed; ispot 

that so? A, It might be  the cause of it; though. It might 

be the cause of the suppuration in the pleural cavity._ 

Wouldn't that come from the operation that 1sper 

formed? A Very well. 

Q Just as well? A Yes, 

Q,, You recall the month of January was a ir e r y cold month, 

wasn't it? A Yes. 

Q,. Very eold weather here? A Yes. 

Q, And a person having received a wound in theelung on the 

-28th and was not arimiAted to the hospital until the 31st, that 

was quite some time after, an exposure of the wourid?. A Four 

days- or three ,days. 

1 1. 

Q If a wound had been made in the lung and it had hefl4c1, 

question withdrawn. Now, then, if, on admission to the hospital 

at that time, or some time afterwards, do I ,understand you to 

say that the operation that was performed there could•well 

have brought aboUt, a pleurisy that he subsequently died of? „. 

prbtri That is what we operated on him for. That 

is,, 'pleurisy with an effusion of fluid in •the chest. 

Q, But from a lung that Was apparently not wounded, but 



had healed sdar had also healed can y un t say 

that it would be an independent cause of, injury to him 

rived fro:n the operation? A Th e. thing I could say is this 

Q, Could it,. Doctor? A No. 

BY THF COURT: 

This ope ation that,y,ou performed, did that cause the 

pleurisy, or was the pleurisy there when you, opera.ttd?' 

A He had. pleurisy, with effusion when we operated- on. him. 

Q, Was the pleurisy in a suppurated cogdition when you 

operated on him? A Probably suppurated when we oper-

ated on him  although that can't be definitely known. 

BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q, Did that suppurated pleurisy come from any wound in 

the lung? A I can't say that. 

Qi With the records of -the hospital before *You, 

unable to state that, are you? A No, sir. 

you are 

Q So; am I right in possibly assuming that this suppura-
pus 

tive/condition rulght have come from the operation? A- You can 

very well assume that. 

Q And the fact was not brought about by any WoUnd in the 

lung? A That part I can't say. 

Q You can't say that, can you? A No the latter part I 

can't say.. Just as the pus can come from the lung part of 

tf it may come from the inside of the lung, or the outside. 

Where it came from I can't say.. 



• But if the lung was healed and there was no us in. 

the lung, , naturally there was nothing to sUpPilrate through 

any puncture of the lung? A No. 

Q There was not, wile 'there? A No. 

Q, Therefore if the lung was he'aled and there was noth-

ing to suppUrate through,- the suppuration then that- yov, found 

in the.pleural cavity, which is outside of the lung, must have 

c_ome altogether from some indep endent • matt er?,. A It.0 ame 

from the outside. 

Q It came from the outside? A The suppuration - 

Q, Bu‘t not in any way - 

111i. 1.TcDON.ALD: Now, let him answer,• please,. 

But mit in any way connected with the lung, is what 

,I want to get at9 A I can - the thing is this. Suppuration 

in the chest may come from the lung, or from the out side. Qhe-

ther it came from the lung, or from the outside, I can't say. 

Q, -That is the point I want to get at. A ;he fact 
that the lung was healed and tfiere was a scar on the lung, 

:as .shown by the, autopsy, which I did not see, .would point 

towards the fact that the infection came from the outside,' 

Q, And not from any Woiand peihaps of the lung? A It vyould 

point towards that, yes, but no one can say definitely, whether 

that is the case. 

. Q From your examination, isn't it your belief that that 

is so?' A I haven't seen the autopsy examination, nor the 

reperto 



•••• I 

But assum.ing that it did state that way', 

belief then that the  pleural suppui,at,i on was altogether 'dis-

tinct from any suppuration from the lung, as a physician 

wouldn't you: say that, Doctor. A Well, you would. assume 

Q. What? A You can assume that., 

Q I say, assuming that? A Yes. 

Q You would say -"yes", would you not? -A Yes. 

So that, if I am right in assuming also it may very 

well be -said, may it not, that the wound, if any, produced onn 

...or in the lung waS. not a mortal or a dangerous wound? Am I. . 

right in that too, Doctor? A The wound in the lung? 

Q, Listen to that 'question, if You will. (Question 

read by stenographer, as follows: "So that, if I am right in 

assuming also it may very well be said, may it not, that 

the, wound if any, p1:911-aced on or in the lung was not "a mortal 

or a, .dangerous. wound? . Am I right in that, too Doctor?")i-n" 

asmuch :as it had healed and the scar • on the lung had also 

healed?,. A Yes, sir. 

• THE -COURT: Because a woltiad heals that. does *mit sh9lIF , 

it was not a dangerous wound. 

MR. LeBARBUR: Well, he a ays, "Yee", your Tionor. I 

only going by the record. 

Tv COURT: According to thatr-then, any wound that 

liea s and does '11 t:kill a man Is not a dangerous wourd? 

TiOntlrts„ • 
• 

R. LeBARBI.BR: No, I wouldn't argue that, your 

.„. 
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mortal Wound., .but as its being a dangerOu.6 .wound 

Something very different. 

MR. LeBARBIHB: The doctor just answered. 

BY THF COURT: 

Q Do you consider that any stab wound through the chest 

and through the pleural cavity penetrating the lung was not a 

dangerous wound? A No, sir. 

Fvery such wound is dangerous? A It is dangerous. 

Q, It must be dangerous? A Yes, 

BY MR. LeBARBIER: 

Q, But assume now that that wound had healed, and the 

apperture, the puncture, had also healed, showing a scar on 

it, wouldn't that indicate to your mind that the danger 

had passed9 A As far as the lung is concerned. ' 

Q, As far as the lung is concerned? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, then, assuming that to be so, can you say 'that ther 

fore the condition of the lung was no longer dangerous? 

A No. 

Q. Ass,uming this for a moment gore, that under those air.-

cumstances the lung had healed and the scar of the P*UriatUre, 

the apperture, had become there and'had also healed, do you 

'think you can state that that wound was the ceTase of death? 

A No, sir. 

Q, ,So  that if the operation that was; made - question 

.,„ 
withdroatrn.% Was the operation that was made quite a large 

4 

4,o4 

MIA.; tot xvist tx,344 
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operation there? 

Q, A major opera.tion? A Yes, Or. 

Q And it was then question Withdrawn. Was it then 

after this major operationwas performed that the pleural 

cavity was filled with this pus? A Nos sir. 

Q Or what was in it? A It was filled with fluid. 

Q Fluid? A Fluid. Whether it was pussy, or not, I 

can't say, because we didn't examine it baoteriolOgically. 

BY 'LEIF COURT: 

9, What MS the fluid? A The fluid was a bloody fluid. 

whether it contained. bacteria or the organisms that cause 

• the pus, that is hard to say. 

BY LeBARBIER: 

Q Can you state whether there 'Was any pus from the lung? 

A No, I can't state that. 

Q, In the history of this c,ase as presented to you, the 

family 'history, speaking of the dec eased it says: "Alcohol, 

five or six glasaes of whiskey a day, acrbeer in large quantities 

venereal, gonorrhea, fifteen years ago. Previous medical,. 

• measles, six Years ago; rheumatism, last year. Previous 

surgical, fifteen years ago, operation for piles; "' Might .not' 

the donation of the patient as revealed to you by what has 

been read to you from the record be sufficient to produ.oe a 

condition of body weakened by disease and drink? A .1 can't 

say that, I coaldykl,t state that. 

• t4tikt14.4*.Xreettie,06,i 
s. 



4.43 
Q You can't 88.y ,o'ne way or the other, can you? 

‘Q, But would it tenet° render the patient liable to -

weakness? 

14R. Mc DONALD: I obj eat to that, sir. The doctor has 

already stated he.can't say. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q I suppose a man in bad condition has not the same 

resisting power as a mail in good .condition? A Yes,. your 

Honor. 

BY NIR. LeBARBIER: 

'CI, Then, .was any of that fluid, after this major operation 

was made, that you  discovered in the pleural cavity, was any 

of that 'fluid at all from the lung? r.A- I can't say that. 

Q Did you make that major operation? 2k. In the presence 

of the "ffirting surge,on. 

By the two of you together?. A Three of us, in fact, 

there •were three people at` the operation. 

Q, Who was the one, who actually  did the oPerE•40,cm? 

Q, That IS to say, you cut in under the rib  did you not? 
4..*C 

/tir,. • Yes, sir. 

Q; Describe the operation, will you, 9,4.,etai3!?:...4. It is. de-

scrib'ed right on the chart there., 

Q Then after the oorationwae any other 9Peration made 

on the patient during his stay there? A He was dressed daily, 

,the dressing was changed every day. That is as far 

0 

° "P:k. 

I know. 

, 4.04...f.1:. 1%4 1. 



Q, You never saw it yourself. , What i s. the nbrmal 

temperature of a person?* A 98.6. 

Q What? A 98. 6Fahrenhei t. 

a. temperature of 99:6 a high temperature? A No, 

youwouldn't call• it a high temperature, but itI.s not xiorma. 

Q What is the pulse? 

Q, Would you consider' a pulse of 80 abnormal ? 

And respiration, what is normal? 

Q, Would you, consider a respiration 'of 28 abnormal,. 

Q, I refer you  to this report and ask you what you find as 

to the temperature, pulse and respiration, arid when it was 

that you found that, if you did, on the patient? A I don 

. understand that. Fvery daY? 

Q, No; when does that report relate to, so far as the time 

of his admission as concerned, how many days after his. ad-

the particular page that .I have called your attention 

A • This is on the day of his a,dmi s si on; ,:thiS is 

the week of. his admission. 

see, in lead pencil there, "4 days after"; what does 

that mean? A 'That is - Ile the stab 

bing occurred, acc.ording to the hi story obtained, by the 
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-That four days,, n after the stab wound occurred, 

what des that 'record show as to his pulse, respiration and 

temperature? A 'It show e that, he has:  slight elevation of 
.... ...... 

temperature, and an increase in ,respiration. 

Did thaIl in, any way indicate a dangerous condition of 

the patient? A It is hard to say. 

Q, Well, can you tell Us? A An .old man -will come in with 

pnaumonia, and he will have no temperature at all, while a 
, 

strong, husky man will have a temperature of 105, and they 

will have the same conditions. 

Q From the record, how old was this man? A How old 

was he? 

Q Yes. 'A -He was a young fellow; he was thirty-five. 

Q Would you consider now, knowing his age, that t4lat 

s an abnormal -.0bn-dition of" thing's abs',010,-- the Man?- A'. -11o, I , 

can't saY that. 

Q, 

Q, 

You cannot say that, can you? A No. 

Taking the medical chart of th.e record from the hos-

pital which ie how shomyou, 

•t"' 

• I.. e%••••• 

• 

^ 

TR Mc DONAL?: May this be rked. far identification? 

MR. LeBARBItli: •1 offer, the whole record from the 

hospital for identification.' 

• 'MB, McDONALD: Offer it in evi dence. 

LeBARBIER: Do you offer it in evidence? 

MR, Mc DONALD: I will offer it if iou haven'tany 

,f4bjsUon. to it. 

a do 



Obj entrion. 

MR. McDONALD: I. offer the record; the medic 

history f this William Clary, in evi.dend e. 

( Same received in evidence and marked People's 

•Fxhibit No. 2; of this date.) 

Q I—don' t`. know if I asked you that. Then the fluid 

that was .found in the pl'eurat"-da-Vity should have been some 

thing altogether different from anything at all -connected 

with the Ding; is that right, Doctor? A If it is COIr 

nected with the lung his in the lung cavity. 

Q, Of course, the pleural cavity is' the outside covering 

of the Aung? 

THF COURT: No, it is not. 

MR. LeBARBIFR: What is that your Honor? 

THF COURT: The pleural  cavity does not mean the 

covering of the lung. 

Q But with the operation in mind and the major operation 

• in mind that you say took place there and the' fluid that you 

found in the pleural cavity and the lung having healed 

Doctor, you have answered that question. I will withdraw the 

question. He has answered it. That is all. 

RFDIR1CT RXAMINATI 01\T BY MR. MoDON.ALD: •• 

Q, Docile", it is possible for a lung to have been out or 

punctured .and then healed and •then an infection 'of -the pleural 

ac .to' take place causing pus to gather in the pleural sac? 

0-



1.1,11M1,0", 

.•Q, Bven after . the puncture in the lugg  ha it healed? 

A It coul,dn't very well come from .the affection of the 

lung. It is possible for the suppui4ation to exi.st, but it may. 

Q, If a stab wound is inflicted which.penetrates the  chest 

wall and the pleura and the pfeu-ral cavity and the lung, even . 

if the lung heals the same penetrating stab wound may in-

fect the pleural cavity? A It may, but not from the lUng 

Q, irrply the' lunf heals up, that wouldn't show . 

that the infection of the pleural cavity didn't come from this 

A It may have come from the outside wound. 

lung healed up? 

from,sorrlething other than the 

So that You—really - 



isruft-
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Q: Did you, find. anything to cont :f„Or.. JOIE it except 

stab Wound? A No s r., 

-1W: LeBARBI 
• . 

la 

Q. Man you say it 'vvas even from a stab wound? A can't 

• say that. 

BY MTh. McPONAI,D: 

Can you say whether it was from an inside wound, or 

not? A No, all I can say' is that the patient 'died, of 

say. suppurative pleurisy. What it is due to I can't 

Q,. He must have had this pleurisy at the time you per-

form ed. the oP erati o'n di dn t• he? A He had pl euri sy with an 

effusion, or we wouldn't have operated on him. 

Q That is the reason you operated on him? A Yes, sir. 

• Q, What is pleurisy? A Pleurisy is an inflammation 

of the pleura. 

Q • And .doss it discharge a pus? A It depends on whethet 

4 - 
it is a dry or wet pleurisy. A dry pleurisy does not dis-

charge any pus. Pleurisy with effusion, or a wet pleurisy, 

. discharges pus. 

Thi s was an effusive pleurisy, wasn't:it? A Thi s Wa-B 

an effuSive pleurisy, yes sir. 

BY B. LeBARBIF.13: 

Q Can it not be that this man suffered from-pleurisy 

before the stab wound? A How can I say? 

Q It could be, couldrilt it? • A Surely. 

4104.111 



nothing definite here to show one way or the 

Being that 'we have not examined the, 

."-. 
suffering from pleurisy with effusion, or not. 

But there is that possibility, is there? 

Who ,examined him when he calli.into the hospital? 

Dr. TOnZ,4fin.' In f'abt:;:the ambulance surgeon 

who ,brought him in is the first one whosaw him. 

and at night there is only one doctor in charge of three 

wards, and h41s called to see the case, and he examines him. 

Q Is there anything ,in the records to show when you first 

found out that this deceased, William Clary-, had pleurisy? 

A When we Xrayed him.. 

When was that? A I think on the _second day after„ he 

Q And he :had pleurisy at that time? A He had pleurisy 

with effusion. 

Where_is your X-ray report? 



what it was, and the X-r,ay people wanted & diagnosis before 

sent the Rat,/ nt down, so they have soMethine to go by. 

Q Then after the. X-ray is taken, then you are able to tell 

what is the matter with the patient as far as the X-ray. 

shows? A Yes, sir. 
. 4 

Q And you found here that there was a fluid in the right 

pleural cavity? A Yes, sir. 

Q There is nothing here., to show anything the matter with 

the lung? A. Fluid is so dense it obstructs the X-ray, I 

suppose, from penetrating into the lung and giving any Y-r•ay of  

tha lung itself, 

Q You -say the  fluid is so dense? A There is fluid 

the chest cavity, and that is all the X-ray shows. Whether the 

X-ray could show whether there was anything on the lung, or 

not, I don't knows, 'because I don't know much abo'ut X-iray work. 

There is a specialist, in the hospital who does that work, 

MR. 1/fc,ONALD: . That is all. 

•. 

1114•1•1,....pc: 
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MICHA E L A 'Y 04. the defendant. resumes 

CROSS liDWIN.ATION (Continued) .BY MR. MCDONALD: , 

Q ,  Now,  you say that Norman Was not iteir'. 

-Norman wasn't there, ñó. 
t 

Q, Do you remember being akked this quest'ion and making 

this reply:. H Norman waz down in the basement?" and your. 

.answer was "Norman was .in the hotel"; do yoU. remember saying 

that? A No, I didn't say that. 

Q Dd you remember saying that? A Norman was not 

.down yet..  

Q. Do you remember saying that? 

that. 

To the stenographer? A I didntt say 
,Ak 

M.  McDONALD: That is. all. 

G. ERTR U.D E C 0 LEM A N, being recalled, testified 

as follows: -

DIRECT E XAITIN.ATION, BY MR. LeBARRIER:. 

Q, Do you recall the night of this occurrence, Mrs. 

COleYnan? A I d 

9, Where were you the next morning? A At my home, 

at work, 152 West 54th Street. 

Q, Did you s ee Clary, the:, deceased, the' next morning? 

He came and rang the door bell the next morning- about 

• ten or 'eleven o'clock. 

Q When? A Between ten and eleven. I think the hour 



odro4 As. 44. 

ou saw him, did y A, I saw h es: 

Wen ..y  -saw hiia that next morning, Ilia he .,f;ey anye 

-.thin 10 you about being stabbed?, 

--For -how•--Iong--

few momtnts. 

Nol he did not. 

Q, Wha t say? A t a few moments. 

That would be Ja.nuary the what -- 29th, wouldn't it? 

It was January 296h, 

0, Did you observe his general appearance? A There 
Tr• 

didn't seem -to,. be anything wrong with hilt.. , 

Q, Whet? A There didn't seem to be anything wrong 

with him. 

Did you see him at any time after that?' A- Not after 

,tha 'no. 

MR. LeBARBIER: That is all. 

CROSS EXAMINATION' BY MR. McDON-ALD: 

Didn't you s ee him after that? Not after yciat*, 

no. 

9, Where was it you say you saw himfk-p,, A He came to my. , • 

door and rang the , bell, and he• asked to see my husband, and I 

-told him he was in bed, and that. was all. I didn't see him 

after that  

Did he just ask to see you,r husband? A Asked. to 

see my husband. 

'

 

37 THr. COURT: 

Q 'How do 'you know that was on 6he 29th? A 1 remerab.er 



VION 

• it. asked,py husband what the trouble wa  and he said 

there was a0Miithing about a fight. 

that9- --it—hati—happened—thr 

night before. 

Q, How did you know then about any tiouble to ask your , 

husband about? 'A. I simply went to call my husband to See 

if he Would fa-ae the men, and .he said.n'o', he wouldn't see him 

then, that there was some trOuble, that night, ,and I told 14m 

he was asleep, and I didn't`see him after 'that. 

MR MODONALM: 

Q You IT:id:found out. that .here was $ fight, had you/ 

At that time, I did, yes, sir. 

When you went to Wake your husband up? A Y 

'Did you say arythinto Clary then about the fight? 

I simply said My husband was asleep, and,he wouldn't 
..• 

see him then; to come around again that evening; and he went 

away. 

Q. Didn" t say anything about any ti•Ouble he was 4/1,27 

No six% I talked from 'the ,,window. 

Q What? I just -called out from 'the windOw. 

Q He was On the sidewalk?„—A-- On- the sidewalk, yes, sir. 

And Whit floor d ,you live on? A One flight up we 

1i3re up over the garage. 

Q, 
y 

oh, 

NoW,did he happen to attract your attention/ 

-4f 
He rang the bell, and I always looked out of the window 

“4 
M ' 

• 

..„ 

159 
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before I opened the door. 

And this was what time?- was between ten and 

eIevfin if I remember rightly. •__ 

• 

C4, 

4. 

Q In the morning? k , Yes, sir ) in the morning. 

You were not receiving calls or, at least telephone 

calls for Mr. Piel that day? A I always answered the 

'phone frot the house, there was an extenttion from the 

- 0, The office' is on the ground floor? A No, siri it 

Is on the same floor. 

66 A, ,1,46•641-10/, , 

As • yours? A yes'. 

p. 
, 

T Irrg .3V,PE1TDANT RESTS. 

'Pr 
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REBUTTAL TE'sTIMIIN Y. 

OFIX SULLIVA• X; being recalled on behalf of the 

people) in rebuttal) testifies as f011ows:-

pulECT ITKAMINATION BY .1V1.. McDONALD: 

Q • the defendant says that Clary knocked him to the 

'groUnd and that:lie -- or, rather he jumped ; on top ,of•him and: 

knocked -hit to the ground) and that then he struck him; or 

,continued to  trike him; and that you pulled Clary from on top 
'Aq• 

of the ,defendant, Mayo. Is that A'- .1qo 

MR. teBARBIMI: Objected to as not in rebut al  

71P, cpuRTE 'Objection overruled, 

LeBAABII take an exception,. 

' 

„ 

• 
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ha t true? 

M. Youngquis t testified that nobody ran atter .Mayo 
„4 

from your -crowd, neither you nor White, tO be specilq.c. 

that so? A No. 

Q • Did you and White run -after Mayo? A Yes sir. 

McDONALD: That is all. 

W ILLI AM WHI T El being recalled on behalf of -the 

people in rebuttal, testified as follows: -

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. McDONALD: 

Q Mrs Mayo said that you told her that her husband 

didn't -- that you didn't see anything that took place that 

night. Did you say that to Mrs. Mayo? A I told Mrs• Maya, -

Just answer thiS "yes" or "no"? A No s 

Mr. Youngquist saysnobody followed Mayo Or Clary. 
,„ 

Did you follow him? A Yes , s 1r. 

0, Did Sullivan also follow him? A I don't know about 

•11 

sullivan.  

q Sullivan was behind you? A I don't. know whether 

Sullivan was, or not but I followed and hollered "L 

Bill". 

1.4R. McDONALD: That is all. 

16R. LeBARBIER: • No questions... 

NA THAN BIR O HA L, Jr., called as a witness on:behplf 

of the people, in rebuttal', 'being`first d'uly sworn,Ostifies 

.as follows:-

• 
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6DIRECT EXAMINATIaN)TYMT(.11cDONALD: 

What .13 your business, Mr. Birchen? 

Q ' And where are you employed? A District Attordpy!s 

-office, homicide bureau. 

And how long have -yo il been in.the District'Attorney!s 

A 'Nine and one half. 

MR. MCDONALD: Defendant, 'Counsel' concedes that 

an expert stenogrepher, and also that he 

transcribed this correctly from his original notes. 

On elle 25th day of February 1918, did you see this 
, 

•p4 , 

defendant? A I did. 

Add where was he when you saw him? 

Of the District Attorney's office? A Yes, sir. 

And did you there take down in shorthand his state 

And were questions propounded by Ar. 

And were they propounded in English? A: They were. 



Aviov. "fel *to, 110140100 

, 04. 

V". 

And did the d fendanti.lpswer „those ques-tions? 

He did. 

Q And did youtake-down his answers correctly? 

. I -did.' 

And did you later transcribe the stenographic notes 

that you then tobk down? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did y u do that Correctly? A I did., 

Q An&did you compare the typewritten notes with your 
A 

originals? A Yes,• sir. 

. , Taken, at that tinie? • A, Yes, sir. 

Q, And did you find that you haetranscribed the origi-

nal notes correctly? A Yes, sir. 

44:4e, 

Q, 

I t° 

Q, 

Is that the original (handing paper to witness? 

Transcribed,copy.of-yOur original notes? A Yes, 

Now, will you pleas& read that? 

MR. LeBARBIR:. Objected to as incompetent,'irre 

levant 8nd immateriall, on the further ground that it 

does not appear that'under thp statute or any 1E14 the 

:deendant was properly advised of hisrights» 

Tlin COURT: I. will sustain the objection-lo reading 

the whole .transcript. I will allow him to read those 

• queptibns and ansWers which were put to the defendant 

and Which he denied making but this being rebutt41 I. 

will sustain the jeotioni,as to rpadtrits the whole :tkenoi* 
N114.1.4, .11Nbt• 114 

ori-pts 
41 

• 

i41 

: 



111. LeBARBI,ER: / take an exception. 

TIM COURT: You can refer to those questions you 

put to the defendant while on the stand where he denies 
A 

making certain answers and ask the stenographer. Wheth,c4i, 

he made thoeb• answers. 

LeliARBIERI Ss to -that I-respectfully Make 

.the same objection, to permitting any testimony from 

this record to'be read into the case'. 

TT 9 COURT: Objection oVerruled 

• MR. LepAR3IER1. I take an exception. 

0, Please turn -to page 3 in the middle of the page," 

"Norman was down in the basement?" Was, that question asked 

Of this defendant? A It was. 

Q, And did he make any reply? A He did. 

Q, Whet reply did he make? A "Norman was in the 

hotel. So he got to work, he got sore or something like. 

that, and I got my boat and was going to the other truck, 

and he goes to'vork and gets right in back of me and punch 

in the eyes and nose, and I 'couldn't see no more, you know 

and 'hen I got  up off the ground I asked people who was 

. there, you know, my side partner, who hit me, because 1 didn't 

know who hit me. I didn't have no argument with him," 

. New, turn to page 4, please, that question, "Clary?" 

Yes, sir. 

Was thet,questiOn, put to the dpfendant? 

A • 
It w 

6 

41 
111":.4 

4 
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And did he 

A Yes. 

make any reply? A Yes, sir. 

Read both question and .answer, pleaSe? A" W41114111? 

SP I run after. him: I had that kknife and I run 

after him. I had that knife and I run after him, and then 

on the corner of sixth' Avenue and 33rd street 6here was a 

sergeant and officer there, a cop stopped me, see; and when 

. they stopped Me he was a block further from me, and I ,said 

- "See that fellow down there? He knocked me down' and I was 

all full of blood, see, 'both Sides Of the nose, so he says, 

there is no use of running after him;', let him go, he's 

.gone 'because they 'seen me With the k nife see, and I- say,, 

'If you don' t believe ie there's the bunch. there by the 

truck, and they'll tell you', because I couldn't talk, I 

was all,.b.listered up. •So this fellow Joe knows all about lt4 

because he was workingalongaide of me, and I said 'he's the 

fellow that 'can tell you all about it', because I was, all 

ful f lo0d, and these fellows woUldn" t say boo 

.they were afraid of the 
4 0,41 

k 

color'e'd fellow, BO the cop sap 

at all, 

"Ither; "ntr'llae making an argument about it, keep your knife. , , 

Wash your 'face and go on working': . That's all there was to 

'I didn't see Clary no more. di dn it 6c1 nothing' ,mor,e 

I 'Worked steady. So I kept on workin and last night I 

see these two gentlemen oome over and lock me up .that I 

stab Bill Clary." 

(;), Tarn to page the queation I lddle (xf the 

, 

6 



page be ginnlin "And - ocin"i d ;a soon aS. , • 

you got .up you tOolc V•14s knife out of your pocket? A Yes, 

and I cOuldnt t catch hie. 

BY TiH COURT: 

Q Vas that question put to him, and did he make that 

answer? A He did, yes, sir. 

BY- MR. MCDONALD: 

Turn to page $1 that question beginning, "And you'"? 

A "Q And you opened it and ran after him? A yes, end 

when I got on the corner of Broadway and Sixth Avenue, you 

,know, that's near there, there was an .officer there stopped 

me right there, and he was a block away., near seventh Avenue, 

kept on running". 

That question was put to the defendant and he gave 

that answer? A lreEil_ sir. 

'goy/ ; the ques t on j t6- before that,, "And ' you took. 

this knife out of your pocket"? A And you took, th.is „. 

knife out of your pocket, •didn' t you? A Yes, and run after 

him". 
, • ,,,, .. . , • 

Q he• see end - qeston Czdm that - was that que ti,om 

t to the defendant and did the defendant makq  that reply? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, then, the second' following •question? 

II CI 

• 

What did you open that knife for and runr after Clary? 

, If / catch him Ilq.1 cut him ,because I was so mad he punched 



4I 

all my eyes and nose and everything, and. I 'didn 

anything to him. 

make that answer? A 

And the following question?. A 

, run after him with the knife? 



• 

• 

• 

.1\Tow, ,tha following' question? 
l62 

Q. ''Well, he was 

. running away and you were running a,fter him,.. Weren't yOu. • - 
.0 • 

A Well, if a man hit you for nothing what will you do?". 

Q, Was that question put to the defendant, and did he 

make that reply? A Yes, sir. 

MR. Mc DONALD: That is all. 

CROSS-FXAMINATION BY ME. LeBARBIFY: 

Q You purported to read from-a typewritten statement 

taken frim your notes, did yr,u not? A Ys ,sir. 

Q .Of the excerpts that the learned Assistant District 

Attorney has read to you? A Yes ;sir. 

Q And that was takem in the District Attorney's office, 

was it not? A It .was. 

(And before it was taken was any admonition given by 

the District Attorney as to the rights of the defendant in the 

• premises? 

McDONALD: I object to the question, sir. 

THE COUBT: Well, I will allow it. 

A No, sir. 

MR. McDONALD: N'o question as to the rights. We are 

not compelled under any law to advise the defendant. 

MR. .LeBARBIgli: In my opinion, 'you usurped  rights, 

THF COURT: Please do not indulge in Colloquy. It there 
It 

Is any objection, address it to the Court. 

••••'."••.• , 

• 

T L1 $ , .0, N Y 
• • 

C.LOSFD 
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o, the Jury) -Gentlemen, Pleased  
not form or express anY ()Pinion as to the defendant's 

guilt or innocence Until the case is finally submitted 

to you. We Will take a' recess until ten-thirty tomorrow 

LeBP.RBI.FR: Those Motions? 

THE COURT: Well, you can make those now, It will 

save ;that much time. 

LeThARBIFE: I make this motion at the close of 

The People's case, that the indictment be dismissed, 

on the ground that The People have not made out facts 

sufficient to constitute the 'charge as laid'in the 

'indictment. 

I also mov e upon the ground that the People. - on 

the variance of proof between the allegations as charged 

in the indiottent and the proof as offered at the trial. 

I also move to dismiss, on the ground that there 

Is no proof of the cauge of death under the statute for 

the reason, as appears from the testimony, that the  , 

physician Who made the autopsy stated that the stab 

wound was healed and had a scar showing that it was healed 

and entirely healed, and that--such stab wound had not been 
kt" 

a mortal wound, as well as from the testimony from the 

dther physician for the People, that the wound was not a 

mortal ,or a dangerous wound; that there was suppuration 

4 
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• of the right pleural 'cavity', but that it bduld not b 

that this suri..„..pUration, as  produced by the stab wound, .'..or 

that it hid cantributed in any way to the cause of death 

from any stab wound, or that the stab wound Which had 

entirely heald, or that- from the stab wound which had 

entirely healed that it was any such injury as to produce 

empyemal causing death, and that it clearly appears that 

the death was not caused by the stab wound or anything in 

connection with the stab wound, and, on the contrarY it 

-does appear that the suppuration in the pleural cavity 

may have been an altogether independent matter from any 

thing relatihg to the wound in the lung or any stab wound 

that had been made in the lung. 

THE COURT: Dr. Schultze testified that the cause 

1,-• ••of-death was a penetrating stab wound, producing empyema 

and suppurative periparditis., 

MR. LeBARBIili: I know, but he ultimately took that 

back, your - Honor, when I asked him, and that is where I 

was rather surprised myself that he had only received that 

' by I inforwa4on, and finally Dr. Schultze said that'' 

he could not .say., . and, then. when_ we- did ask .him that. as-
. 

suminp- that this was a wound that had been healed .and the 

scar had been healed, that it was not a dangerous wound. 

THF COURT: You always are harping on the wound Of 

the lung, a if that 'welie the only wound. 

• • Vet 

• 



M. LeARIIIIR: 

,Y014'14,0017epaua,e1 4;..-----

;11.F COURT: There was a wound of the pleura and of 

the pleural cavity.. 

LeBARBI#R: Now it appears also that he may have 

am harping a good deal 

had pleurisy when he went in there. It also appears there 

was a major operation. Surely, your Honor, from the testi-

mony of this last doctor and Dr. Schultze, it cannot,,4n • 

my humble opninin, I am only speaking of my opinion, that 

death was. Caused from the suppuration of the right pleural 

cavity as induced in any way from any injury done to the 

lung, and from what may appear it Was altogether a 

separate, independent and distinct injury in and Of it-

self, as one doctor says, and may have come from the major. 

operation. Now, that 18 the testiniony, I Your Honor. 

THF COURT: The doctor did no.t say that pleurisy 

could come from the major op eeation. He said pus might, 

but he didn't say that pleurisy might,because he said 

the _pleurisy was there when they operated, and that is 

what they operated for. - 

MR. LeBARBIA: I mean this last. doctor,' 

THF-COU1RT: Yes, thattis• the one I mean. 

, • 

MR. LeISAR11-11R.,:•- 'haVenTt it .word for word„ but 

It I s a very grave questi on. 

TILF COURT: It is a question, but it 18-a club tion 

a, 

... 



tieB ARBIFR: Yes,it might e Up to, them, 

butrather think it presents 'itSelf as ,4„ question of • 

law. 

THF COURT: I think an ri•-e-sue Of fact is raised 

there on what was the cause of death, hether the cause 

of _death was this wound, or not, which must be settled 

by the jury. I vvill deny the motion and give you an 

exception. 

MR. LelfARBIFR.: An exception, your Honor. 

THF- COURT: That is the varianc e you claim in the 

proof?, 

MR. LetARBIFR: I ask your Honor to advise the 

jury to acquit, on the ground there is no evidence in 

this case to go to the jury upon the question of fact 

as to the cause of death as charged in the indictment. 

THF COURT: Motion denied. 

LeBARBIFR: Fxception. My que;Ition of variance 

of proof Is, answering your Honor's sugg esti on, the question 

that the indictment charges nslaught.e re JThe' crime, of 

manslaughter has not been made  out in either ;Olt degree's. 

The evidence that The People. have sbught to sustain the 

charge of ma,nslaughter on has fri,ttered itself away into 

. a question of what was the cause of death, whethez: it 

was a stab yo.und, which seems to be eliminated, or 



the ri,ght pleural aaVity, 

both of which doctors say could have been had independen 

of the injury to the right lung. Yowl I think those re 

• grave questions your Honor. 

• THE COURT: Motion denied. 

MR. LeRARBIIR: •I take an exception. 

THF T: (To the jury) Gentlemen, I will repeat 

the caution that I just gave you a few minutes ago about 

forming or expressing •an opinion as to the guilt or inno-
• 

cenc'e of the defendant, and You are excused until tomorrow 

(The Court then accordingly took a recess until 'to-

morrow, Wednesday, 4111.31-1918, at 10:30 O'clock a. m. 

temv 
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